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INTRODUCTION

I was asked if  would be interested in contributing to the volume being written

about Wolf Steel. My answer was immediafe — | would be delighted!

| have been in the hearth industry, with the Hearth, Patio & Barbecue
Association [HPBA), for 12 years, and have learmned the “players” in the
industry. You learn which companies are innovative, which companies are
run well, which companies have infegrity. Wolf Steel clearly encompasses

all of these traits.

It has been a pleasure fo get fo know Wolfgang and Ingrid Schroeter, as well
as their sons Chris and Stephen. The pride in their work and what they have
achieved is evident and welldeserved. They have grown a sfartup business
info a corporation with over a thousand employees, operating globally. I can
personally identify with their history — as immigrants from Germany — and
the challenges of making such a huge change in their lives. My parents also
emigrated from Germany and made a new life in North America. | know

that starting in a new country involves humility and defermination.

What the Schroeters have created is inspiring. Napoleon Fireplaces and
GCirills has become a wellrespected brand in the industry. The company is
innovative: their hearth products are cutingedge, both in terms of design
and technology. The company is diversified: they not only sell fireplaces,
stoves, and inserts, but also heating and cooling products, barbecue grills,
and other outdoor living products. Lastly, their company is state-oFhe-art:

both in terms of their physical facilities and how they operate.

What is also inspiring and rare these days is the fact that, despite its
size, Napoleon continues to be run as a family business. Over the years,
Wolfgang and Ingrid have shared leadership in the company. As their
sons, Chris and Stephen, have become adults, they have joined their
parents and the family values that Wolfgang and Ingrid have instilled in
the running of the company have been applied to everyone connected to
Wolf Steel — their staff, dealers, vendors, and consumer base. The result
is a sfrong thread of loyalty throughout the company and to those outside

people who work with the company.

These values are also seen in the Schroeters giving back to the hearth and
barbecue industries, and to society as well. There is a culiure of gefting
involved in industry issues, and collaborating with other companies in
the industry, through HPBA, for the greater good. Ingrid has volunteered
extensively for the HBPA of Canada, as Treasurer and as a current Board
member; she currently serves on HPBA's Expo Committee, which helps
guide policy on our important frade show. Other staff members at Napoleon
serve on HPBA committees, such as the Government Affairs and Technical
Committees. Napoleon is also very generous with its time and money, such

as confributing fo Habitat for Humanity, to name just one example of many.

| am honored to have been asked fo confribute to a volume on Wolf Steel.
More importantly, | am proud to know the Schroefers and other members of
their company. | work in @ wonderful indusiry, and Wolf Steel is one reason
for my feeling this way. Congratulations on your successes and best wishes

for many more in the future!

Jack Goldman, President & CEO, Hearth, Patio & Barbecue Association
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Wolfgang's ancestors on his father’s side: Wolfgang’s grandmother is on

the far right, his greatgrandparents are in the center.

L to R: Wolfgang's mother, Wolfgang and his grandmother.

L to R: Wolfgang's father, mother and grandmother in their garden in Plorzheim.

Wolfgang's father and grandmother on the motorbike.

Wedding picture of Wolfgang's mother and father.

The wedding party at Wolfgang's parents’ wedding.

FAMILY BACKGROUND

Wolfgang Schroeter, the founder, longtime president and current CEO
of Wolf Steel ltd. and Napoleon Appliance Corporation, was born on
June 3, 1949 in Benshausen, Germany—the only child of KarlHeinz
Schréter and Frieda Schréter, née Lapp. From 1949 until the reunification
of the two German states in 1990, Benshausen, located in the state of
Thuringia, belonged to the Communist Eastern German sfate, the German
Democratic Republic (GDR).  The Schréter! family’s connection with
Benshausen came through Wolfgang's grandparents on his mother’s side

and Frieda grew up in the community.

Wolfgang's father was a civil engineer who specialized in building
bridges. Since many bridges and other imporfant infrastructure had been
destroyed during the Second World War, there was no shortage of
reconstruction work to be done in the immediate postwar period. One
of the bridges built by KarlHeinz Schréter just outside of Benshausen is
still standing today. While KarlHeinz pursued a career in engineering,
Wolfgang's mother worked in the office of the Mercedes Company in
Zella-Mehlis. Mercedes not to be mistaken for the German car company)

was a manufacturer of typewriters.

" Wolfgang changed the spelling of his family name from “Schréter” to “Schroeter” when he immigrated
to Canada. Throughout the pages of this book, the original German spelling of the family’s name will be
maintained for Wolfgang's parents and relatives in Germany, while the adapted English version will be used in

relation to Wolfgang and his immediate family in Canada.
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HISTORY OF BENSHAUSEN

Benshausen, located in the valley of the Lichtenau River af the Southern
slope of the Thuringian Forest has a long history. Nearby burial mounds
are manifestations of the earliest human sefflement in the area, dating back
to the Bronze Age (1800 - 700 BC). Although it seems that the name
Benshausen was not used in written documents until 1274, historians
agree that Frankish setilers founded the town much earlier, around 800 AD.
The first official mentioning of Ebertshausen (today a part of Benshausen)
dates back to 838 AD. By the 11" century, Benshausen served as the
seat of regional government and had a court under the presidency of the
local count. During the 15" century, Benshausen became known as a
winetrading center. Wine from the Main, Rhine and Mosel areas, which
remain some of Germany's most renowned wine-growing regions, was

stored by Benshausen'’s wine traders in specially-constructed wine cellars

where the wine aged before being sold. The town's second main area of
economic activity was freight fransportation. Since the town was located
right on the trading route to Oberhof, fransport was a natural economic
opportunity. Many of the original timberframe houses with basement vaults
for wine storage are still in existence, serving as markers of Benshausen'’s
historical role in the wine trade. In addition to the original timberframe
houses, the historic town hall square (built in 1423) and large memorials
made from stone and cast iron, represent the prosperity many Benshausen
residents enjoyed throughout the community’s long history. The church in
the town district of Ebertshausen with its Romanic-style elements is one of
the oldest in the entire region. Today Benshausen is home to about 2,500

people. (hitp://benshausen.creanetsoft.com)

MOVE TO PFORZHEIM

In 1949, the year Wolfgang was borm, the Federal Republic of Germany
(FRG, that is West Germany) and the German Democratic Republic (GDR,
that is East Germany) were founded as independent states. As tensions
grew between the former Allies of the Second World War, the FRG
became part of the Western Alliance while the GDR developed into an

important part of the Communist Eastern bloc.

Following their wedding, Wolfgang's parents lived in Benshausen until
KarlHeinz relocated back to his hometown of Plorzheim in West Germany
fo work in his profession as a civil engineer employed by the city. At
that time, Frieda and their infant son, Wolfgang, stayed behind with her
parents in Benshausen. The Schréter family’s connection with Plorzheim
came through Wolfgang's grandparents on his father’s side, who had

lived there for many years.

Although the border between the two German states had already been
established, it was not yet fortified at the time Wolfgang was born. Until
1952, when the border was closed and a barbed wire fence erected,
this single most important demarcation line of the Cold War was patrolled
by soldiers. As per Stalin's advice to the East German Government to
"guard the line of defense with their lives,” the border guards on the
Eastern German side had received orders to shoot anyone who fried to

cross illegally into the West.

While living in Pforzheim, KarlHeinz had traveled back and forth several

times so that he could see his wife and son. As the border between

East and West Germany became more and more heavily guarded,
suggesting that it might close eventually, the Schréters made the decision
that Wolfgang and his mother should cross over and take up residency in
West Germany as well. In September 1949, when Wolfgang was about

three months old, he and his mother joined his father in Pforzheim.

The plan was for Frieda and Wolfgang to cross the border between
the Eastern German state of Thuringia and the Western German state
of Bavaria undefected by the Eastern German guards. Once on West
German territory, they were to proceed to a train station in the nearby
town of Mellrichstadt, Bavaria. From there, they were supposed to take
the frain to Pforzheim to reunite with Karl-Heinz. Their first attempt, one
night in September 1949, was aborted when Frieda heard shots while
she and Wolfgang were hiding in the forest close fo the border. A week
later they aftempted to cross again, and this time made it safely to the
frain station on the other side. During the second crossing, Frieda's brother
Oskar, her sister lene, as well as lene’s three-yearold daughter Christel
accompanied her. The plan was for Oskar to help them get to the border;
lene and Christel were supposed tfo fravel with Frieda and VWolfgang
info West Germany and then return home. After arriving by frain in the
East German fown near the border, the two women fook turns walking
and pushing Wolfgang's baby carriage and riding as a passenger on
Oskar's motorbike. When they reached the forest near the place where
they infended to cross into West Germany, Oskar went back home on
his motorcycle, while Frieda and Llene continued walking further towards
the border together with their small children. This time they got across
without incident. Afraid that he might scream and thus atfract the attention

of the Eastern German border guards, Frieda had given Wolfgang some
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Schnapps so that he would sleep. To her dismay, the alcohol had exactly
the opposite effect and Wolfgang was unsettled and extremely agitated
in his carriage while she pushed him across the border into West German
ferritory. Upon their arrival in West Germany, Frieda and Lene asked for
directions fo the nearby train sfation in the town of Mellrichstadt from a
local woman. Noticing that the group had fled from East Germany, like
so many other refugees crossing into Bavaria from Thuringia in order fo
escape Communism at that time, the woman advised them of a safe route
fo continue their journey. In Mellrichstadt, the two women rested on a
bench in front of a monastery, greatly relieved that they had made it safely
across the Iron Curtain. Knowing that they would be valuable to them as a
trading object on the black market, Frieda had brought nylon stockings with
her and she sold them for Western German currency. With West German
Marks in her pockets, Frieda, lene and their children went to a nearby
inn to eat and stay the night. When they asked for accommodations, they
were fold that all the rooms af the inn were already filled with refugees.
The innkeeper suggested that they go back to the monastery and ask if
they could stay the night there. Although the monastery was crammed
with refugees as well, the abbess felt sorry for the two women and their
two small children and took them in. Well cared for, Frieda, Lene, Christel
and Wolfgang ended up staying there for an entire week. As previously
agreed upon, KarlHeinz had sent West German Marks to Herta Mayer,
a girl friend of Frieda’s in nearby Schweinfurt, to help cover the costs of his
wife and son'’s journey. After spending a week at the cloister, Frieda, Lene,
Christel and Wolfgang rode the fifty-kilometers-distance from Mellrichstadt
to Schweinfurt by train, paying for the fickets with the money left from the
sale of Frieda’s stockings. In Schweinfurt they met up with Herta, who had

been worried because she had expected them a week earlier. From there,

lene and Christel took the frain back to East Germany, as planned, while
Frieda and Wolfgang continued by frain to Plorzheim, where they were

finally reunited with Wolfgang's father.

In Pforzheim, the Schroters lived in a townhouse in the subdivision of
Arlinger. Wolfgang's grandmother on his mother's side had been renting
the house from the Cooperative of Arlinger (Arlinger Genossenschaff] for
many years. Similar fo his work in Benshausen, Wolfgang's father worked
as an engineer in the construction of bridges in Plorzheim. Since the city
had suffered fremendous destruction during the Second World War, post-
war reconstruction was a matter of particular urgency in Pforzheim and
the surrounding area, affording ample opportunity for an experienced
engineer like Karl-Heinz. An allied air raid on February 23, 1945 had
killed 17,600 people within 22 minutes, as well as destroying 80 percent
of the city and 98 percent of the city's center.

Wolfgang's father was highly involved in the local community. A very
active person, Karl-Heinz played a number of instruments (piano, violin
and musical saw), and sfarted the local table tennis club. Unfortunately, life
as a family lasted for only three years, as KarlHeinz's health deferiorated
quickly as the result of an injury sustained during the Second World War.
While serving as a German tank commander in Russia, Kar-Heinz was
shot in the chest and, due fo its location in the body, the bullet could not
be removed. To make matters worse, Wolfgang's father was a heavy
smoker, causing his health to deferiorate even more quickly. During the
final months of his life he was hospitalized in the Schémberg Sanatorium,
where Frieda and Wolfgang visited him many times. Karl-Heinz Schroter

died on December 26, 1952 at the young age of 32.

Wolfgang, who was only three years old at the time of his passing, has
no personal recollection of the event but recounts his mother's memories
from that time.The night Wolfgang's father died was one of the worst
moments in the life of Frieda Schréfer. Not only had she just lost her
husband, but that same night, their neighbours happened to be having a
large family Christmas celebration. The joyful sound traveled through the

separating wall info the Schréters’ townhouse where Frieda was mourning

HISTORY OF PFORZHEIM

Pforzheim is located in the northwestern part of the German state of Baden-
Wirttemberg on the northern edge of the Black Forest, with easy access to
the cities of Karlsruhe (25 kilometers) and Stuttgart (37 kilometers). A city
of over 120,000 residents today, Pforzheim was founded as a Roman
sefflement af a crossing point of the river Enz. The city's name is derived
from Porfus, meaning harbour or river crossing in Latin. During Roman
fimes, the developing sefflement was of significance for the military and
commerce because the crossing was part of a Roman long-distance trading

and military road connecting the cities of Strassburg and Cannstatt.

First mentioned in a document issued by Emperor Heinrich IV in 1067,
the medieval town of Pforzheim received the right to hold a market around
1080, which was crucial for its future development and prosperity. In
1486, following a period of consistent growth, the city came under the
jurisdiction of the margraves of Baden, thus effectively losing its former
independence. Throughout the 17" century, Plorzheim was destroyed

several times. In 1645, as the Thirty-Years VWar reached its final stage, the

the untimely passing of her husband. Karl-Heinz's funeral was held on
December 31, 1952, in the presence of his brotherindow, Oskar Lapp,
and his parentsindaw who were allowed by the Communist Eastern
German authorities to attend. Following the funeral, they returned home
to Eastern Germany and Frieda found herself alone with her young son

without the support of family.

Pforzheim downtown before the war.
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Pforzheim after the Second World War.

Pforzheim downtown after the war.

city was burned down by Bavarian troops. Between 1689 and 1697,
during the Palatine War of Succession, Plorzheim was plundered and

burned down three more times by French froops.

Due to the city's unique location at the edge of the Black Forest and af
the junction of three rivers, rafting of timber became one of the foremost
economic activities for Pforzheim residents. Raftsmen floated the trees
from the Black Forest, which were used as building material, down the
rivers Enz, Nagold and VWuerm. They rebundled them into large-size rafts
in the low-laying floodplain of Pforzheim and then shipped them further
downstream. The growing economic significance of the timber business is
demonstrated through the fact that, as early as the 16" century, Plorzheim
had a customs station where raftsmen paid duties in order to use local

waterways for shipping trees from the Black Forest all the way to Holland.

From the Middle Ages on and throughout the Early Modern and Modem
periods, the city and its residents prospered. This was due, at least in
part, to various inifiatives undertaken by the margraves of Baden, who
allocated significant resources to the city's growth. Step-by-step, this

aristocratic fomi|y transformed Pforzheim into one of its most important

The Arlinger suburb of Pforzheim.

centers of influence. The 13" to 15" centuries in particular, were years of
economic boom that were characterized by a large increase in economic
activity and unprecedented levels of growth and prosperity. Not only were
Pforzheim residents involved in the rafting and trading of timber, but other
important industries, such as fanning, the making of clothing and togs,
as well as the trades confributed to the city’s overall affluence as well. In
1767, margrave Karl Friedrich of Baden founded a watch manufacturing
plant that was staffed by residents of the local orphanage. In doing so,
he laid the foundation for Pforzheim’s future role as the main center for
the production of watches and jewelry in all of Germany. By 1800, the
number of production facilities in the city had grown to about 900, and
watches and jewelry from Plorzheim were being exported around the
world. Referred tfo interchangably as the “gold, jewelry or watch city”,
Pforzheim has maintained its standing as Germany’s main center of jewelry
and watch production to the present day. Today, the city produces about
75 percent of all jewelry made in Germany. Furthermore, presentday
Pforzheim is home to the only gold smith school with an integrated watch-
and clockmaking school in all of Germany. In 2011, the school marked
its Q0th anniversary. A jewelry museum, located in the Reuchlinhaus, tells

the history of jewelry making from the beginning until present day.

SCHOOL YEARS IN PFORZHEIM

While growing up in Plorzheim, Wolfgang attended the Arlinger
Elementary School (Arlinger Volksschule). Being a single mother in post-
war Germany, life was not easy for Frieda. Affer her husband'’s passing,
she fook on whatever kind of parttime employment she could find to
provide for her son and herself. Wolfgang still vividly remembers his
mother crying at Christmas one year because all she could afford to give
him as a present was a litle jockknife, when she knew that what he had
really been hoping for was a bicycle. It was not until he was twelve years

old that Wolfgang got his first bicycle.

Peter Jankowski, who lived in the house right behind the Schréters, was
a good friend of Wolfgang's while growing up. When they were young,
the two boys spun a wire across the yard as a “telephone line”, which
allowed them to talk all night. Wolfgang remembers building a lot of tree
houses in his childhood days. On one occasion, while playing in the
forest, the friends found an old machine gun with ammunition in a sfeel
box from the Second World War. Although they tried their hardest, they
could not get the machine gun to work. They then turned their attention
fo the ammunition box. With great excitement, they built a fire, threw the
ammunition in, and hid behind the trees watching as the bullets exploded.
Completely unaware of the danger they were putting themselves info, they

pushed the bullets that had fallen out back into the fire with a stick.

When Wolfgang was seven years old, his mother got remarried to Heiner
Eisele and took her second husband’s name. Wollgang's stepfather was

bom near Ulm in Southern Germany, one of seven siblings—five boys and

Plorzheim Arlinger, where Wolfgang grew up.

Wolfgang and his mother.

Wolfgang's stepfather Heiner Eisele.

Wolfgang, his mother and stepfather

Heiner during an excursion.
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Wolfgang going into grade 1 at the age of 6.

Wolfgang's elementary school class with Wolfgang in the middle row fo the left.

Wolfgang in front of his school in lederhosen. Wolfgang on a float during the annual children’s parade

in the Arlinger.

Wolfgang's Lutheran Confirmation. Reception at Wolfgang's Lutheran Confirmation.

Coffee time in the backyard: In the front Wolfgang's cousin Siegbert with his mother Ursula Lapp to the right. Back Row L to R: Fritz, Heiner, Frieda,
Wolfgang and neighbours.

Wolfgang dressed up as a Chinese during carnival with his friend Charlotte and neighbours.
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two girls. Since Heiner's parents did not have a lot of money, they took
some of their children fo the orphanage to be looked after and fed at times
when food was short. As a result of this, Heiner had spent a considerable
amount of fime in an orphanage in Plorzheim while growing up. like
everybody else in the orphanage, he had become a goldsmith. Since
jewelry production was the main focus of the local economy, being frained
as a goldsmith afforded the residents of the orphanage the opportunity to

make a decent living after leaving the orphanage.

During the Second World War, Heiner had served as a sapper, building
bridges for the German forces in Russia. He met Wolfgang's mother after
being released from a prisonerofwar camp in Russia. like Frieda, this
was his second marriage and he had a daughter from his first marriage,
naomed Ruth.

Working in his frained profession as a goldsmith, Heiner ran his own
business out of his house, using the attic and basement of the family's
fownhouse as his workshop for making highly valuable, custom-made
jewelry bracelefs out of 24k gold. A real artist, he never had trouble
getting work. Once every week, he went to the factory that he was
producing for to pick up the drawings and gold sheet metals for the pre-
ordered jewelry. The following week he took the skillfully crafted gold
bracelets plus the scrap material back to the company. Under his contract,
Heiner was allowed fo keep ten percent of the scrap mefal for himself.
When he refired he had collected so much gold over the years that he
melted it all together and made himself a solid gold watch, which is now

in Wolfgang's possession.

Heiner had a sister named Trudel who was married to Charles Riviere,
a Frenchman from Morocco. They had two children, Anne Marie
and George. The family lived in Marrakesh, Morocco for many years
before moving to Strasbourg in the Alsace, France. The odometer on
their Volkswagen showed a million kilometers from driving to and from
Morocco many times to visit Charles’” parents. After the Rivigres had
moved fo Strasbourg, Wolfgang and his family visited them occasionally.
One weekend, as they were affending Anne Marie's confirmation, they
dined in a restaurant from noon to eight o’ clock af night, being served
course affer course of exofic foods that Wolfgang had never seen before.
Not used fo escargot, brain, olives and similar “delicacies,” Wolfgang

fold the waiter that all he wanted was potatoes with butter.
TRADE SCHOOL

At age fourteen, affer completing grade eight of elementary school,
Wolfgang enrolled at the Heinrich-Wieland Vocational School for Fine
Precision Mechanics Engineering (Heinrich-Wieland Berufsschule fir
Feinwerktechnik) in Pforzheim. He attended that school from 1963 until
1967. Under Germany’s dual apprenticeship fraining system which
continues to this very day, apprentices divide their time equally between
going fo frade school and gaining practical experience on the job. Thus,
Wolfgang attended classes for two and a half days and then worked
as an apprentice at the Anfon Fischer Company for the remainder of
the week. The Anton Fischer Company was one of Pforzheim’s many
businesses involved in the production of jewelry and waiches, making
wafch cases and wristbands for watches. Every morning, Wolfgang's first

fask af work was to go around the plant and take down breakfast orders

for each of the company’s 15 to 20 toolmakers. He then went to the local
bakery, the butcher, as well as to the general store to buy everything they
had ordered. For an entire year, Wolfgang had fo do this three times a
day. Since he brought so much business to their store, the owners always
gave Wolfgang food for himself for free. His close friend Eckhard Engel,
who was doing his apprenticeship with another company in town, had
been assigned the same task. Due tfo their similar tasks, the two friends
regularly mef in the park to have lunch fogether before going back fo
their respective companies to deliver the food. looking back, VWolfgang

remembers those days as a very happy time in his life.

At the beginning of trade school, Wolfgang and his fellow students were
given a sixinchlong U-profile piece of steel, which they had to work on
for six months. They were assigned the highly repetitive task of filing that
piece down to a cube of one-by-one centimeters. Throughout the process
the young apprentices were fested frequently. Even though he did nof
see the benefit of such infense filing at the time, it faught Wolfgang fo file
perfectly—a skill he was to benefit from greatly affer coming to Canada,
because his first jobs in the New World required exactly that finesse.
Even today, whenever he takes a file info his hand, the outcome is perfect.
Wolfgang confirms: “The filing was so infense during those first six months

of frade school that even today nobody can show me how to do it better.”

Wolfgang and his fellow apprentices were only fourteen years old when
they entered trade school in 1963. Not surprisingly, the young lads were
frying fo cut comers while filing their U-profile by hand over the course
of half a year. One time, Wolfgang remembers, they used the bench

grinder to grind some of the material off more quickly. When the teacher

Excerpt from Wolfgang’s trade school work book.
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Wolfgang's Kreidler motorbike.

found out, he handed them each a heavy three-by-three-inch-large square
file and made them use this heavy tool until the end of the day. After
Wolfgang and his fellow apprentices had served their punishment, their
arms were hurting. Needless to say, they did not fry to use the bench
grinder again. In 1967, after graduating from trade school, Wolfgang

obtained his diploma as a certified tool and die maker.

Wolfgang's friend Eckhard Engel on the motorbike.

MOPEDS, CARS AND ACCIDENTS —
TEENAGE YEARS DURING THE SIXTIES

Wolfgang's teenage years fook place during the fime of the Beatles and
the Rolling Stones. When he was around sixteen years old, Wolfgang got
himself a 50 cc Kreidler moped. This was significant because having a
vehicle gave him more independence. At the same time, it also served as
a source of friction between him and his mother as he was gone all the
time. Since many of Wolfgang’s friends had mopeds as well, they offen

rode as a group fogether. Looking back, Wolfgang remembers the years

Motorbiking with a friend.

Wolfgang motorbiking with friends.

he and his friends spent on and around their mopeds as a great time in his
life. However, this also proved to be a time of taking many unnecessary
risks, resulting in several accidents. Once, while riding his moped,
Wolfgang had a collision with a car. In Germany, at intersections where
there is no fraffic sign, the vehicle going through the junction from the right
has the right of way. Ignoring this fundamental rule of the road, Wolfgang
went straight through the infersection and ended up hitting the car that he
was supposed fo yield to in the door. Luckily, although Wolfgang and his
passenger were thrown off the bike, they were not injured. Their moped,

however, was badly damaged. His uncle lived not far from the site of the

L to R: Frieda Eisele, Wolfgang's aunt Ursula Lapp, Jack Astrensky and his wife Herta, Heiner Eisele.

accident so Wolfgang and his friend walked to his uncle’s house and he
took them home. When the police got involved, Wolfgang had to pay a

fine to the Red Cross for failing fo yield and causing an accident.

Since their mopeds were limited to 50cc by law, Wolfgang and his
friends worked on them all the time in order to make them faster and look
like real motorcycles. In the morning he often left early for work to spend
some time tuning up his moped before he had to begin his workday.
Some of the many things he did to enhance the performance and looks of

his bike included taking the engine apart and tuning it up, drilling up the
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carburefor, polishing the intake, grinding down the cylinder head, as well
as replacing the moped’s fork with a fork from a real motorcycle. When
he had finished, the moped looked like a racing motorcycle ready for use

on the racetracks.

One night, Wolfgang and his friends riding in a group of about 15
mopeds, were on their way fo their favorite place—a restaurant that
served the biggest Schnitzel in the enfire area. As they were approaching
a curve in the road, Eckhard, who was in the lead position, was the first
fo go around. Suddenly, the group saw the light beam from Eckhard'’s bike
high up in the frees and they instantly knew what had happened: going
too fast info the curve, Eckhard had failed to make the comer, causing his
moped fo soar high up info the air. When the friends reached the scene of
the accident, Eckhard and his passenger had been thrown off and were
lying in the field motionless. Scared that they might be seriously hurt or
even dead, the others shook them. To their great relief, Eckhard and his
passenger started laughing at that moment. They had used the accident

as an opportunity fo play a frick on the group.

A very shy and quiet person, Wollgang had absolutely no interest in
girls as a teenager. VWhen his friends aftended parties and got drunk, he
was always the one who got them home safely. The father of one of his
friends was the janitor at the local city theater; this allowed the group fo
aftend a lot of plays for free. They often watched performances from a
catwalk above the stage where the lights were positioned. The theater
building was also home to the local police station, as well as housing
a cellar, named the “Beat Cellar” in which Wolfgang and his friends

installed a bar. The "Beat Cellar” became their regular meeting place

and party room. On a normal day, there were 15 to 20 mopeds parked
in front of that building.

Jack Astrensky, a friend of Wolfgang's parents, was an American cifizen
working for the US military af the Patch Barracks base in Stuttgart. When
Wolfgang and his family got invited to a party there, Wolfgang had his first
real hamburger. He remembers it being so huge that he could not eat it all.
In his professional capacity at the base, Jack was responsible for supplying
the officers’ casino with food. Through this friend, Wolfgang and his family
were infroduced fo turkey and large hams as well as other foods that were
popular in the States. While flipping through o magazine af Jack’s one
day, Wolfgang noticed an ad for inexpensive used military jackets. Since
there was no special motorcycle clothing in those days (Wolfgang and his
friends did not even have helmets), these jackets with lots of pockets were
wellsuited for being used as motorcycle gear. After showing the ad to his
friends Wolfgang ordered twenty jackets. VWhen they arrived, he kept one
for himself and passed the others on to the group. By providing the group

with military clothing, Wolfgang started a new trend.

Wolfgang and his friends regularly went to the Hockenheim Ring, one
of Germany’s foremost racefracks, to watch motorcycle and car races.
Wolfgang particularly liked motorcycles with sidecars. While attending
races at Hockenheim, he witnessed a lot of accidents. On April 7, 1968,
Wolfgang was in affendance of the Formula 2 race during which British

race car driver Jim Clarke was killed.

In 1966, one year before his eighteenth birthday, VWolfgang bought his
first car—a 1959 Volkswagen Convertible. He had saved up the money

from his salary as an apprentice, as well as from additional work he did
window cleaning for the Kreutz Company after hours. On Wednesday
nights, Wolfgang and Eckhard Engel looked after the local Hydro building,
emptying out garbage, mopping and waxing the floors, as well as cleaning
windows. Although they usually completed the job in less than one-and-c-half
hours, they were paid for five hours, because that was the time that it would
usually take to clean the entire building. When the client complained that
the building was not clean enough, they spent an extra half hour on the job
the next time. On Saturdays, they cleaned a fivesstory factory that produced
iewelry for Chanel in Paris from fop fo bottom. One day, while emptying out
the waste baskets, VWolfgang found beautiful profotypes of custom jewelry
in them. Since these items had been disposed of as garbage, he took them

home and gave them to his mother as a gift. Frieda was delighted.

Even more so than his moped, which had afforded him mobility during his
feenage years, having a car was a big thing for Wolfgang, particularly
considering that his parents never had one. One time, before he had his
licence or insurance, he was driving with his cousins from France, Anne
Marie and George, when they ran out of gas. After sitting by the road
for what felt like an efernity waiting for a car to give them a ride, they
hitchhiked home. Afterwards, they immediately returned to the car and got
it off the road as quickly as possible so that the police would not notice it

and start asking questions.

In the same way that he worked on his moped, Wolfgang was constantly
working on the car to make it faster. He always had dirty hands from
taking the engine out, rebuilding it and making other improvements to the

car's performance. One weekend, while he was working on the brakes,

his mother asked him fo drive her to Stutigart so that she could visit her
brother there. When Wolfgang explained that he could not take her, she
got mad at him. “You are always working on that car. Those few times that
| need you to drive me somewhere, somehow it never works,” Frieda said
visibly upset. Feeling the need to appease his mother, Wolfgang ended
up driving all the way fo Stuttigart in a car without functioning brakes. All
he could use during the frip was the car’s emergency break. Of course, he

did not tell his mother that the brakes on his car were not working.

One year during the winter, Wolfgang’s uncle Oskar Llapp invited Wolfgang
and his fomily fo lenzerheide, Switzerland. Affer crossing the border info
Switzerland in Wolfgang's Volkswagen Convertible, they notficed a sign
saying that snow chains were required due to the icy condition of the road.
Wolfgang said: “We will be ok - I don't need chains”. To his great surprise,
road conditions would soon prove him wrong. While driving behind a
fruck, it suddenly slowed down. His stepfather yelled: “Hit the brakes!”
Wolfgang screamed back at him: “I am hitting the brakes!”, as he tried to
slow the car down. His tires had no grip on the icy road and their car slid
right into the fruck. Upset, Heiner said: “l am not driving with you anymore. |
am going fo take the train home.” In the end, they all continued their journey

together affer faking the car to a Volkswagen repair shop to have it fixed.

Another time while driving in the Black Forest, the generator of Wolfgang's
car was not working. Wolfgang had nof noficed the defect because even
when the generator fails the engine still works by itself during day time.
However, once the lights are tumned on at night, the lights drain the battery
so quickly that affer a short while the car dies in the middle of driving.

When it got dark that night, VWolfgang switched on the lights and fo his
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great surprise the car died. After checking the engine he quickly realized
what the problem was. Trying to get home, he continued driving without
lights in the middle of the night. VWhenever a car came his way, he turned
on the lights for a short time in order to be noficed. Although the lights did
not come on fully, it was sufficient for the other driver to see him. Once the
oncoming car had passed, Wolfgang tumed the lights off again and kept

on driving. He eventually made it home that way.

Another time, Wolfgang and his friends drove fo ltaly in two Volkswagens —
Wolfgang'’s old one, and his friend Peter Kuntzmann's brand-new one.
In Wolfgang's car there were Wolfgang and his friends Eckhard Engel
and Silvan Kiefer. In the other car were Peter Kuntzmann and two other
friends of theirs. Since walkiefalkies were the latest thing in those days,
they carried a walkietalkie in each car so that they could talk to each
other during the trip. As they were going up the serpentines in the Alps,
Wolfgang would always fall behind. Having more horse power, Peter kept
going, passing many cars in front of him, while Wolfgang was struggling
fo make it up the mountain roads. Several times Peter's Volkswagen ended
up fifty or even more cars ahead of Wolfgang's before traffic came to a
standstill because there were just foo many cars on the road. When traffic
stopped, Peter told Wolfgang over the walkietalkie when there was no
oncoming fraffic. Assured by his friend that passing was safe, Wolfgang
would then speed up, pass everyone before him and slip info the space
his friend had left for him. That way Wolfgang always caught up with the

other car as they were going through the mountains.

While driving around in ltaly, VWolfgang had stopped at a red light, when
suddenly their car was hit from behind very hard by another vehicle. As

they got out of their car to see what had happened, the friends were
approached by the driver of the car behind them. The man who was
from Sweden, apologized for having fallen asleep behind the wheel.
The friends called the police. VWhen the officers arrived they were only
inferested in whether anyone had been hurt in the accident. Since that
was not the case, the officers left again. Wolfgang and his friends were
forced to push their car to a nearby repair shop where they had it fixed
just enough so that they could keep driving home. With insufficient funds
to replace the muffler, which had been disconnected during the accident,

they ran the car without a working muffler all the way home to Germany.

While rumbling through Cortina D'Ampezzo, a high-end tourist town in
the Dolomites, in the middle of the night, they were stopped by the police
because of the loud noise that their car was making. The officers told them
fo keep quiet which, of course, was easier said than done without a muffler.
Since the policemen had stopped them as they were going up a hill, the
only way to resfart their Volkswagen was to roll down the hill backwards
which made an extremely loud noise. VWolfgang remembers the policemen
standing by the road just shaking their heads. When the friends finally arrived
at the German border, the German border guards were not impressed with
the state of his car either. The officials made it very clear fo them that they
did not appreciate the negative image and impression that their noisy car
was creating about Germans traveling outside their own country: “This is
outrageous,” one of the guards said, “that you as Germans dare drive
around in such a beatup car in a foreign countryl” As if they needed
any more car frouble, Wolfgang's car eventually overheated because of
the broken muffler. Further, since the heating chambers were insulated with

horse hair, the vehicle caught fire while the friends were driving between

Munich and Stuttgart. Although they eventually made it home safe and
sound, Wolfgang had to scrap the car. He confacted the Swedish man

who had caused the accident in ltaly, but never heard back from him.

Another fime as Wolfgang and his friends were getting ready for a
weekend camping trip in borrowed military fents, they got info trouble
again. It was the middle of the night when Silvan suggested stealing
a rabbit from a nearby garden plot where they knew someone was
raising rabbits. The idea was to have the animal butchered and then grill
the meat during their camping weekend. Putting their plan info action,
Eckhard and Silvan went info the garden plot while Wolfgang waited in
the car. Suddenly, there was loud banging and a crashing noise; the two
friends emerged, each of them carrying a rabbit in his hands. Apparently
somebody had notficed them while they were faking off with the animals,
but, luckily, they were able fo escape without getfting caught. Wolfgang
remembers the rabbits running around in the car all excited while the
friends sped off. They took the animals to Eckhard’s father, who butchered
them affer they had assured him that they had bought the rabbits for
their camping trip. One of the rabbits was huge, and to this very day
Wolfgang remembers it being tough and tasting awful. Back at work on
Monday morning after their camping trip, Eckhard showed Wolfgang a
story from the local newspaper. The artficle’s headline read: “Prize rabbit
stolen.” That moment, the friends instantly knew why the big old rabbit had

not been tender even after cooking it on the barbecue for hours.

After scrapping his Volkswagen following the friends’ trip to ltaly, Wolfgang
bought a used Opel Kadett Coupe. The car had suffered damages from a
fornado and Wolfgang fixed it up, doing all the body work himself. Since

Wolfgang checking out new cars at the Frankfurt Automotive Show.

Standing next to Wolfgang’s Kadett from L to R are frieda and Heiner Eisele, family friend Mrs. Wiegand and Wolfgang.
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he could not get the roof smooth, he sprayed on a leather coating, the
latest thing ot the time, fo hide the imperfections. Although the car was not
registered —it had no plates and was not insured yet-Wolfgang and his
friends were driving it already. VWWhen his friends challenged him to go faster
during one of their first drives together in the new car, Wolfgang decided
fo show off. As he was speeding through a long curve and passing all
kinds of cars, he noticed a car in the rearview mirror following them. In
an affempt to shake off his pursuer, Wolfgang accelerated and tumned off
onto gravel side roads several times. No matter what he fried, the pursuing
car always stayed close behind him. Eckhard eventually suggested that
Wolfgang stop the car and apologize to the other driver for passing him in
the curve. Following Eckhard’s advice, Wolfgang brought the car to a halt
and the friends waited for what would happen next. To their great surprise
they saw a policeman in full uniform emerging from the other car. They later
learned that the officer had been on the way to work when they had passed
him in the curve. The policeman fold Wolfgang fo leave his car behind
and fo come with him fo the police sfafion. Affer inferrogating the young
man, he took him back fo his car and had him follow the police cruiser to
Wolfgang's parents’ house. Frieda and Heiner were having a fomily get
fogether and Wolfgang's cousins from Stuttgart were playing outside when
the two cars arrived. Noticing the police car, the cousins ran info the house,
telling everybody that Wolfgang had just arrived fogether with a police
officer. Everyone came out and stared at VWolfgang as he was talking to the

policeman. Wolfgang had a lot of explaining to do that day.

Three days later—this time after he had the car registered and put insurance
on it— Wolfgang went for a drive into fown. As he was crossing the frain

bridge in Pforzheim, the driver of another car failed to see him and hit his

car from behind. The impact of the crash pushed Wolfgang's car to the
side of the road, causing it fo spin sideways before flipping and sliding
on the roof. Due to the weight of the car body, the leathercoated roof
collapsed all the way down to the windows. When his car finally came
fo a stop, Wolfgang climbed out quickly. All the body filler he had used
when fixing up the car had come off, leaving white streaks on the road.
His Opel Kadett was another write-off. As he was standing beside his
wrecked car waiting for the police to arrive, he noticed that there were
many people gathered at the scene and talking about the accident. VWhen
the police finally arrived, the officer looked af the car and asked the
crowd who the driver was, wondering if he had already been taken to
the hospital. “Me,” Wolfgang answered, “I am the driver.” This time it was
defermined that the accident was not his fault, and the police charged the
other driver. Since his car was completely destroyed, Wolfgang had to
take the bus and then walk from the bus station to reach his house after
the accident had taken place. Upon his arrival at his parents’ house,
his mother was falking to the neighbours. “Why are you walking?” she
asked, knowing instantly that something was wrong. “Where is your car”
When he told her that he had flipped the car while driving, she was very

upset and almost burst info fears.

The day dfter the accident, Wolfgang was supposed fo pick up his
grandmother from the train station in Frankfurt. Since his car was destroyed,
Wolfgang's mother suggested that he ask his aunt if he could borrow her
car. Of course, Wolfgang could not tell his aunt that the reason why he
needed her car was that he had just flipped his own vehicle. Instead,
he informed her that, as was so often the case, something was wrong

with his car and that he could not drive it while it was getting fixed.

Believing him, his aunt lent him her car and he was then able to pick up

his grandmother in Frankfurt.
ENTREPRENEURIAL ROOTS

While growing up, Wolfgang always looked at his uncle, Oskar Lapp, as
his role model. Llike Wolfgang's parents, Oskar had grown up and lived
in Benshausen, Thuringia, in Eastern Germany before leaving for the West
after the end of the war. During the Second World War, he had fought in
the German forces and had become a prisoner of war in Russia. A smart
man who had learned the Russian language quickly while being in @
prisoner-ofwar camp, he had been the last POV to be released from the
camp because the Russians were using him as a translator. His years spent
in Russian captivity had developed in him a deep hatred for Communism,
which made it impossible for him to continue living in his homefown
after the end of the war, when it became part of the Communist Eastern
German sfate. After refurning from Russia, he announced fo his family, “I
am not staying in this Communist country, | am leaving!” His plan was to
go to West Germany and to establish himself there first before having his
wife and son join him. He drove his car to Berlin, took the license plates
off so that the Communist border guards would not be able to identify him
for fear of negative repercussions for his family, and drove straight through
the barrier. His wife and son later entered VWest Germany through Berlin
(which remained a loophole in the Iron Curtain until the Berlin wall was

built in 1961) and joined him in the West.

After his successful escape to West Germany, Oskar stayed with Wolfgang's

mother in Plorzheim for a few days. A trained engineer, he soon found

a job at the Harting Company, which made electronic equipment and
radios, among other things. After a few years at Harting, he ventured
out on his own and sfarfed a business out of his house, going around to
factories and supplying them with specialty cable, cutting off and selling
whatever quantity manufacturers needed. His business prospered because
right after the war there was a great need for materials such as these, and
factory owners did not yet have the money to purchase entire roles of
cable. Later on, Oskar started his own factory, producing cables under his
own name. As he became a successful entrepreneur he bought machines
that had been originally designed for making rope. Wolfgang's stepfather,
Heiner Eisele, converted these machines so that they would braid metal
wire around electrical cables instead. Oskar eventually established a
spin-off factory for Wolfgang's parents in Plorzheim where the cable
coating was woven around the wire that Oskar produced in his own
manufacturing plant. After manufacturing cable for his brother-in-law for @
number of years, Heiner eventually went back to his chosen profession of
being a goldsmith. Today, the company Oskar lapp established—Lapp
Kabel—is one of the largest cable companies in the world, with sales of
close to 1 billion Euros a year. It is run by the founder's sons, Wolfgang's

cousins, Andreas and Siegbert Lapp.

While Wolfgang was growing up, his family often visited with his cousins.
Since his uncle had become a successful entrepreneur, the Lapps always
had more money than the Eiseles, and paid for everything they did
together. Wolfgang remembers listening to many conversations during
those fimes where his uncle talked about his company and the ways that
he was pushing it forward and making it successful. Oskar said a lot of

things back then that still make business sense to Wolfgang even today.
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Wolfgang's grandparents” house Am Wasser 3 in Benshausen before the creek was moved underground.

Mainly because of his uncle’s influence on him, Wolfgang was defermined
fo become an entrepreneur as well. By the time he was sixteen years old,

Wolfgang's goal was to run his own company one day.

It was not until two years later, af age eighteen, that Wolfgang fried to
set up his first business in Germany. Having a knack for fixing up cars,
he bought tools, renfed a small shop and started his own garage. His
first project as an independent car mechanic was a burned-out Karmann
Chia. Wolfgang infended fo restore the car and then to sell it for a profit.
One day, aofter the body work and painting were already completed, all
of his tools were stolen from the shop. Since Wolfgang did not have the
money tfo replace them, the loss of his tools marked the sudden end of his

first business venture.

Wolfgang’s grandfather in Benshausen, Eduard lapp, was another
entrepreneurial influence on him while growing up. Prior to the Second

World War, Eduard and a partner had founded lapp and Roth, a

Wolfgang with his cousins and grandparents in Benshausen. L fo R: Joachim, Manfred, Andreas, Wolfgang (behind Andreas)

and Siegbert.

company for the production of pouliry shears, bullrings, and corkscrews.
Operating a machine shop with lathes and milling machines, they had
done well until the Communist takeover in East Germany had resulted in
the prohibition of private entrepreneurship. Under Communist doctrine, the
GDR Government took ownership of the business and had Wolfgang's
grandfather and his business pariner manage the company as state
employees. Although he had been an entrepreneur all his life, Wolfgang's
grandfather was now being told by the Communist authorities what to
do and what direction to take the business in. Under the new regime,
the company produced mechanical pencils with refractable leads. Being
innovators, Eduard Lapp and his business pariner developed a system
that allowed their pencils to change colours by drop action. Since they
were the first fo create a pencil that gave its users access to five different

colours, they had the invention patented.

From the time that he was about eight years old until he became a teenager,

Wolfgang and his family went to Benshausen for six weeks of summer

holidays each year fo visit his grandparents, cousins and other family. During
these extended stays at his grandparents’ house, located at Am Wasser 3,
Wolfgang helped in his grandfather’s business assembling pencils as well
as on the farm. In addition fo being an enfrepreneur who had been demoted
to the status of state-employed manager of his former business, VWolfgang's
grandfather, like many GDR residents, was a small farmer as well. Although
private farming was illegal under the Communist regime, the Lopps raised
cows, chickens, rabbits and pigs, and Eduard lapp slaughtered one pig
each year on the premises for private consumption. One time, Wolfgang
watched with horror from the window how the pig was killed. Although he
always enjoyed the family's summer visits to Benshausen, by the time he
was about sixteen years old and had his first moped, Wolfgang started
going his own way. From then on he stayed home during the time that his

parents visited their relafives in East Germany.

Having family in both West and East Germany, the Iron Curfain had a
personal meaning for Wolfgang as for so many other German families that
were separated by the wall. One time when he was about ten years old,
Wolfgang had stayed behind with his grandparents in Benshausen affer
his parents had already gone back home to Pforzheim. VWhen his vacation
came to an end, one of Wolfgang's great cousins from West Germany,
twenty-yearold Irene Hengelhaupt, whose parents lived in a town near
Benshausen, was supposed to take him back to Plorzheim by train. On the
day of travel, as their train stopped af the heavilyfortified border between
East and West Germany, armed Communist border guards got onto the
frain with dogs and started inspecting passengers and their luggage, as
well as searching with mirrors under the train. Wolfgang remembers them

being exiremely rude. When looking through the window, he noticed

watch towers and soldiers with machine guns. listening to dogs barking
and someone yelling orders made Wolfgang and the other passengers on

the train feel even more intimidated.

Irene had brought a fur coat with her which she had received from her
mother in East Germany as a present. Since faking valuables from the East
to the West was deemed illegal by the Communist authorities, the women
had sewn a West German label into the fur coat so that the border guards
would think the coat originally came from West Germany. The Communist
officials, however, became suspicious and, upon closer inspection,
noticed that the label had been stitched in by hand and not by machine.
They ordered Irene off the train to undergo further inferrogation. As she
was about fo be escorted off the frain, Irene tried to calm Wolfgang,
saying that she would be back shortly. By then, Wolfgang and the other

passengers on the train were all scared.

All of a sudden, the train started moving again before his cousin had
gotten back, and ten-yearold Wolfgang was on his way to Frankfurt by
himself. Since Irene had carried all their papers, he did not even have
a ticket. Luckily, in Frankfurt, fellow passengers helped him onfo the right
frain to Plorzheim. When asked for his ticket by the conductor on the
connecting frain, Wolfgang explained to him what had happened af the
border and he eventually made it home. Irene, who had been forced to
stay behind at the border, not only lost her fur coat, but she was also fined
several thousand Deutschmarks (in VWestern currency) and was threatened
by the Communist authorities that if she did not pay the fine she would

never be allowed back into East Germany to see her parents again.
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THE DECISION TO EMIGRATE

After completing his apprenticeship, Wolfgang worked as a tool and die
maker for a company in the aufomotive industry. He was now ninefeen
years old and particularly enjoyed the fact that his friend Eckhard Engel
was working with him in the same factory. Although their tasks were
rather repetitive, it was a good job and they learned a lot.  One night,
while at a pub, Wolfgang and his friends talked about doing something
different with their lives. Driven by youthful restlessness and an adventurous
spirit, they felf foo young to seftle into a routine yet. Since everyone was
talking about America as the country of unlimited opportunities, Wolfgang
suggested that they go fo the US for a number of years to leamn English
and then come back to Germany. Everybody agreed with his proposal:
"Yes, that's what we should be doing!” they said. Wolfgang announced
that he would enquire about it with the US authorities. When he went to
the US Embassy, he was told that the US was indeed looking for young
fradespeople. However, he was also wamed that after one year in the
country they would be sent fo Vietnam fo fight for the US in the Vietnam
War. Under the law of the day, immigrants were subject to mandatory
military service in the US army. As a result of those conditions, the friends
decided not to pursue immigrating fo the US. With the US no longer an
option, the next best thing in their minds was going to Canada. Wolfgang
went fo the Canadian Consulate in Stuttgart to inquire about the possibility
of immigrating to Canada. Canada was also looking for young men
frained in the trades. The Canadian Government was even running
ads on German TV in an attempt to recruit skilled young tradespeople.
When asked about his English language skills by the Canadian official,

Wolfgang answered that his knowledge of the language was very limited.

As a matter of fact, he had not been taught any English at school. His
first exposure to the English language was when he fook a one-week-
long language course at Berlitz Language School in Plorzheim just before
leaving for Canada. In response, the inferviewing officer suggested to
Wolfgang that he go fo Kiichener, in the province of Onfario, located
about one hour west of Toronto. Kitchener, formerly called Berlin, had
been a cenfer of German immigration since the early 1800’s. Due fo its
German heritage, the city and surrounding area of Waterloo County had
affracted thousands of postVWWVII immigrants who had started businesses,
clubs and other insfitutions which, the officer pointed out, would make
it easier for Wolfgang to adapt to life in Canada. Determined fo leave
as soon as possible, Wolfgang filled out the papers and applied for
immigration to Canada. To his great surprise, while he started putting their
joint group plan info action, all of his friends, one after the other, pulled
out. It was not long before he was the only one left. Undeterred, the
ninefeen-yearold informed his mother of his plans. Frieda Eisele, who was
quite shocked by his plan, did not like the idea of her only son moving
across the ocean. Hoping that he might change his mind, she asked him
fo stay home for another year and wait until he turned twenty. During that
year, Wolfgang's aunt as well as his other family members also tried to

convince him not to immigrate to Canada.

Following his mother's advice, Wolfgang stayed in Germany for another
year. When he finally left for Canada in October of 1969, less than four
months after his twentieth birthday, his plan was to live in Canada for
two years and then move on to South Africa for another two years before
eventually returning to Germany. As both countries were emerging at the

fime, the plan held the promise of great experiences for an adventurous

young man such as Wolfgang. looking for a frue adventure, Wolfgang
decided not to travel to Canada by airplane, but booked himself on
a freighter from Hamburg fo Toronto instead. In October 1969, with
Wolfgang set to leave for Canada, his friend Eckhard Engel drove him to
Hamburg, where they spent some fime on the famous Reperbahn. While
siting in a club, the two friends were approached by a recruiter for the
French legion. The man promised Wolfgang and Eckhard a very large
amount of money which was fo be paid out after their three years of
service were over. For a moment, Wolfgang and Eckhard were tempted
fo put their signatures under the ready-to-sign contract that the recruiter was
carrying with him. In the end, however, Wolfgang left for Canada on the

Rendsburg freighter, as planned, and Eckhard went back home.
ATLANTIC PASSAGE (1969)

The Rendsburg was an old freighter traveling from Hamburg to Chicago
via Scotland, Quebec and Toronto. While on the way fo Scotland, the
cylinder rings of the ship’s two-cylinder engine—a mefer and a half in
diameter—required repairs. After pulling out the cylinder, the crew only
had one chance to restart the engine because it was done with compressed
air. They were successful and the ship made it to Scotland safe and sound,
landing at Grangemouth on October 7, 1969. In Scotland, Wolfgang
and some of his fellow passengers rented a taxi and drove to Edinburgh

where they visited the famous castle.

In addition to the crew, there were six passengers on board: Wolfgang
shared his cabin with a refired lawyer from Chicago whose wife had

passed away and who was now fraveling around the world on freighters.

Wolfgang boarding the Rendsburg and heading for Canada.
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Wolfgang leaving Germany on the freighter Rendsburg, October 1969.

Another fellow passenger was from Peru; and there were three other young
German men who, like Wolfgang, were immigrating to Canada. During
the voyage, the passengers were allowed fo move freely around the ship,
including the bridge and the downstairs crew area. The three young
passengers, including Wolfgang, and the ship’s crew had huge parties
on board, which, on more than one occasion lasted until five o clock in
the morning. Alcohol was cheap since there were no taxes on purchases
made in infernational waters. After a night of partying, the passengers
would sleep in while the crew had to get up and work. Wolfgang
remembers one of the crew members being so drunk one morning that he
did not even remember his name when reporting for duty—this on a day
when his shipmates had to hang him overboard in a basket because he
had been assigned the task of painting parts of the hull from the outside.
At dinner time, the passengers were seated at the officers’ table together
with the captain, the first officer and the ship's radio operator. Food and
service were excellent; everything on board was first class. Since eating
times on board were absolutely punctual, on days when he happened
fo be late for dinner, Wolfgang had to eat with the crew because the
door to the officers” dining hall was locked. Although he was crossing the
Aflantic on a German freighter, communication was not easy. At the time,
Wolfgang only spoke Schwadbisch (Swabian), a South-VWestern German
dialect, but no High German, although he could understand it—he only
learned to speak High German in Canada. Wolfgang remembers having
frouble communicating at the officers’ table because all of the ship’s
officers and crew spoke either High German or English. Although he had
taken a one-week-long language course just before leaving for Canado;
his English was nowhere near good enough to allow him to follow the

crew’s conversations.

STARTING OUT IN
KITCHENER, ONTARIO

After crossing the Atlantic from Scofland, the Rendsburg landed in
Quebec City, where they had fo wait for a day. Wolfgang then spent
two days in Montreal sightseeing and waiting for his immigration papers
fo be processed, before going on to Toronto, where he got off the
ship. Wolfgang carried with him the address and phone number of the
Wiegand family, who were friends of his mother's. The Wiegands picked
him up in Toronto and fook him fo Kitchener, where Wolfgang stayed his
first night off the ship in their house. The next day, his host family took
Wolfgang to the bank to open his first bank account in Canada. To his
great surprise, the teller changed the spelling of his name from Schréter
fo Schroeter, since Umlauts are not used in the English language. Ever
since that day, Wolfgang has spelled his family name Schroeter. That very
same day Wolfgang had a job interview, arranged for room and board,
and was shown Conestoga College on King Street in Waterloo, where
he would learn English several times a week in the evenings affer work.
On the second day dafter he set foot on Canadian soil, Wolfgang started

working at Electro Porcelain in Kitchener's twin city VWaterloo.

Wolfgang vividly remembers his first day af work. Expecfing that the
Canadian work dress code would be the same as in Germany, he had
brought his blue work overalls, commonly referred to in German as “Blaver
Anton” (Blue Anton) or “Blaumann” (Blue man) with him to Canada. In
Germany, it was standard practice for workers to wear those kinds of
boiler suits at work. On his first day at Electro Porcelain, Wolfgang carried

the overalls with him to the plant in a big bag. When he was sent to the
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Wolfgang with friends, circa 1972. L to R: Wolfgang, Renate Lipowitz, Bert Penzendorfer, Brigitte Penzendorfer, Ingrid and the

late Rudi Lipowitz.

bathroom to change, Wolfgang was surprised tfo find that there were
no doors in front of the toilets. Equally odd was the fact that his new
colleagues looked at him strangely when he came out wearing his *Blaver
Anton”, because nobody in Canada wore work overalls. Instead, workers

were allowed to wear whatever they wanted.

Wolfgang's first impressions of Canada were that everything was big and
wide—big streets, big houses, big cars, big shopping malls — in short: a
big country. Everything looked huge compared to what he was used to

from growing up in Germany.

Besides the Wiegands, Rudi Lipowitz was another contact Wolfgang had
upon arrival in Kitchener. They had previously met in Pforzheim, and before
Rudi had left for Canada Wolfgang had almost bought a car from him.
Once Wolfgang knew that he would be immigrating to Canada as well,
he had gotten Rudi’s contact information from the young man'’s parents.

When Wolfgang called him in Kitchener, Rudi picked him up in a huge

Playing party games with friends in Canada.

Galaxy 500 Coupe. Wolfgang was truly impressed by the size of the car.
Rudi introduced him to his many friends and acquaintances, and Wolfgang
quickly realized that the Canadian official af the Canadian Consulate in
Stuttgart had been right: Kitchener was home to many German-speaking
people from all over Europe and Wolfgang soon became friends with
many recent immigrants, particularly from Switzerland and Austria.? Rudi’s
basement apartment in Waterloo quickly became the meeting place where
Wolfgang and his new friends had parties and hung out, always having
a good time. One night they had made plans to make cheese fondue, but
did not have the proper tools for it. Improvising, they put a rope around the
light fixture on the ceiling, fied it fo a cloth hanger that had a pot affached

fo it and placed candles on the floor undermeath the pot.

At Electro Porcelain, which produced ceramic insulators for Onfario
Hydro and for residential cook tops, Wolfgang's workstation was placed
between the drying oven and the fumnace. It was his job to take the

ceramic parts out of the drying oven and fo put them info the furnace.

2 According fo the 1971 Census, over 35,000 people or 32% of Kitchener residents, were of German ethnic origin (Census of Canada, 1971).

Although it was October, it was so hot between the two furnaces that even
today Wolfgang thinks it was probably the worst job in the entire factory.
Clad that he had found employment so quickly after his arrival, he did
not complain and kept doing his job. Affer two months, the company's
foreman approached Wolfgang; knowing that he was a frained tool
and die maker, he had been looking around for a better job for him.
The foreman had found a tool and die shop that would take him on in
his learned profession. Overjoyed, Wolfgang thanked him. Due to the
initiative of his foreman, Wolfgang started his second job in Canada in
January 1970 at Vanderzwaag Tool and Die in Waterloo. His starting

salary there was $1.65 an hour.

While working at Vanderzwaag's, Wolfgang bought his first North
American car, a used Chevrolet, for $200.00. Overjoyed he wrote home

fo his parents: “Got a car bigger than a Mercedes!”

Vanderzwaag Tool and Die was a tiny shop where Wolfgang worked with
only two other employees, both of them Canadians. The shop looked like
a garage attached to a house. Mr. Vanderzwaag always saved on heat
during the winter. VWWhen he planned on coming into the shop, he turned
up the thermostat so that the place was warm while he was in the building.
However, when he left he turned it down again, leaving his employees to
freeze. It got so cold in the shop that Wolfgang and his colleagues started
turning up the heat in the owner's absence, always watching carefully and

turning it down the moment they saw Mr. Vanderzwaag approaching.

After a few months, Wolfgang learned that his two Canadian co-

workers were making around $4.00 an hour while he was only being

paid $1.65. When they suggested to him to ask his boss for a raise,
Wolfgang approached his employer. To his surprise, Mr. Vanderzwaag
made all kinds of excuses as to why he could not pay him more. Among
other things, he said that Wolfgang's English was not good enough vet,
and that he sfill had to learn working with non-metric measurements. Mr.
Vanderzwaag seemed to suggest that once he had more experience,
Wolfgang would be paid more as well. Wolfgang remained persistent
and kept asking, and when Mr. Vanderzwaag finally agreed to give him
a raise, he paid him $1.70 an hour.

With no real perspective for professional development at Vanderzwaag’s,
Wolfgang felt that it was time fo move on. He looked around and quickly
found a new job at Heffner Tool and Die in the Kramer Building right across
from the Concordia Club in Kitchener. There he was paid $4.50 an hour.
It was a great job and he enjoyed the excellent working atmosphere that
was completely different from his previous place of employment. Although
Wolfgang liked working together with his new colleague, who was a
German immigrant like him, and with his boss af Heffner’s, the Canadian
economy was in a downturn which resulted in Wolfgang losing his job

within less than a year.

With no job to support himself, Wolfgang seriously considered going
back to Germany. Infending to return fo his native country, he decided to
take the brand-new Volkswagen, which he had bought only a week or
two before he was laid off, back to the dealer. When he offered to sell
the car back to him, the dealer told him that he would only give him half
of what he had paid for the car. “I'll think about it,” Wolfgang said and

left, realizing that selling the car back was not an option.
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View of Toronto circa 1970.

MOVING TO TORONTO

After losing his job with Heffner's in 1970, Wolfgang fried to find new
employment anywhere in KitchenerVWaterloo. Despite his persistence,
with the economy going through a recession, no local companies were
hiring. This was when Wolfgang learned through a friend of a possible
job opportunity at Chromalox Electric Heat (now owned by Dimplex) in
Toronto. The friend’s uncle, who was employed at Chromalox, knew that
the company was always looking for qualified toolmakers. After handing
in his application, Wolfgang was interviewed, and he landed the job.
At twenty-one years old, Wolfgang was the youngest employee in the

tool room at Chromalox. Surprised by his young age, his new colleagues

said, "He can't be a toolmaker, he is way too young!” To their surprise,
Wolfgang was not only a certified toolmaker, but also a highly skilled
one on fop of that. Due fo his in-depth training in Germany, he could
accomplish more difficult jobs than his older and much more experienced
colleagues. The many monotonous hours he had spent at trade school
filing by hand now came in handy. One of the tools they were building
at Chromalox was molds for spiral burners used in electric ranges. Due
fo ifts spiral shape the mold had to be milled out spherically. Since the
job was considered too difficult to be done inhouse, it had always
been outsourced to another company. Confident in his ability, Wolfgang
suggested that he could do it—and he did! From then on his supervisors
gave many difficult jobs to Wolfgang knowing that he was the only one in
the tool shop who could do them. Wolfgang was paid well for his skilled

work at Chromalox, receiving $6.50 an hour.

When Wolfgang had moved from Kitchener to Toronto to work for
Chromalox, the first place he lived in was a boarding house where every
room was rented out individually. It was a noisy place, and Wolfgang was
not pleased with it. As he started looking for another place fo live, someone
suggested that he look for shared student accommodations. While going
through the classified ads in the Toronto Star, he found an ad, placed by
students from York University who were looking for a third roommate fo
share an apartment on the 16" floor of a high-ise building on Jane Street.
Wolfgang called, met with the students and moved in. Not only did he
enjoy the camaraderie of living with Canadians his own age, he was also
excited about the opportunity to improve his English by living with native
English speakers. While living in Toronto, Wolfgang also took an English
as a Second language (ESL) course at York University. Since Wolfgang

was the only one among the roommates with a car, they drove fo the
grocery store together on Fridays to do their shopping for the entire week.
To his surprise, by Sunday night all the food was gone, and Wolfgang
found himself eating peanut butter and jam for the rest of the week. After
a while Wolfgang realized that if he bought German food, such as blood
sausage, herring, rye bread, and pumpenickel, his roommates did not

touch his stuff and he would have food for the entire week.

When Wolfgang was given a box spring, he slept on it in a sleeping bag
for two months, not knowing that the box spring is only the base of a bed
set which, of course, also requires a matiress. Later on, when waterbeds
became the newest fashion, Wolfgang and his roommates decided to
buy waterbeds. After coming home late af night with their new purchases,
they took the hose off the vacuum cleaner, and ran it info the beds' filling
valves. Although it was dirty and messy and did not work well at first,
they eventually gof their waterbeds filled with water. Eventually, they found
out that it was illegal to put waterbeds into high-rise buildings due to the

weight and the risk of water damage.

One day, Wolfgang's roommates went to the horse races in Toronfo
where they won $1,000.00. On their way back they met a man who
sold them Marijuana, which they paid for with their winnings. When
his roommates came back to the apartment with a garbage bag full of
Marijuana, Wolfgang had no idea what they were doing. They took the
plants out of the bag, cut the branches info litfle pieces, separated leaves
and seeds and started selling them at the university. By then Wolfgang
had had enough, as that was definitely not his lifestyle. He moved out and

moved in fogether with another friend.

MEETING INGRID
AND GETTING MARRIED

Although he was working and living in Toronto, Wolfgang always
went back to Kitchener to spend the weekends with his friends there. In
Kitchener, he usually stayed at Rudy's or af Bert Penzendorfer's. Bert, who
is sfill a good friend of Ingrid and Wolfgang's today, was an immigrant
from Austria. It was through Bert that Ingrid and Wolfgang met for the
first time. One weekend, as he was visiting Kitchener, his friends told
Wolfgang that there was a new girl in fown. Bert and his girlfriend Brigitte
knew Ingrid from English school and invited her fo join them for a dance at
the Schwabenclub, which was one of the local hubs for German-speaking
immigrants atf the time. This was where Wolfgang first met Ingrid, his

wifedobe, in February 1971. The second time their paths crossed

Ingrid and Wolfgang's engagement announcement, Christmas 1971.
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Ingrid and Wolfgang getting married, July 1, 1972 (their only wedding photo).

Wolfgang and Ingrid with Heiner Eisele in front of Wolfgang's parent's” townhouse in Pforzheim.

Wolfgang and Ingrid just before getting engaged at Ingrid's parents’ home.
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Wolfgang and Ingrid with Frieda and Heiner Eisele in front of Munich in the 1960%.
Wolfgang's parents’ townhouse.

was at Brigitte’s boss’s birthday party. After that, they met every weekend
until they got engaged Christmas of 1971. At the time, Wolfgang had
wanted to go back to Germany, but Ingrid had just started studying for
her BA degree at Wilfrid Laurier University in Waterloo. They decided
fo stay because they figured that they would have more opportunities for
advancement in Canada. Looking back, they have never regretted that
decision. Wolfgang and Ingrid got married on July 1, 1972—Canada
Day—in Germany where they had a small wedding with about twenty
guests at an inn. Wolfgang's mother had organized the wedding in
their absence. Ingrid was 21 and Wolfgang was 23 at the time they
exchanged their vows. For their honeymoon, Ingrid and Wolfgang went
on a road trip through France (where they camped in Paris|, Monaco,
ltaly and back through Austrio to Germany. Rather than renting a car,
they bought an old Opel Kadeft for 500 Deutschmarks. After six weeks
and putting on a lot of kilometers they sold the car for 550 Deutschmarks

before returning to Canada.
INGRID’S STORY

Ingrid was born on June 29, 1951 in Ottobrunn near Munich, Bavaria,
the daughter of Helge Heide and Hildegard Heide, née Michl. She grew
up in Ottobrunn until moving to Munich in 1961 where she attended
the Anger Cloister Modern languages High School (Anger Kloster
Neusprachiges Gymnasium), a private high school for girls that she
graduated from in 1970.

Ingrid's father was an electronic engineer who worked for Grundig, the

largest radio manufacturer in all of Europe af the time, and then for Kérting
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L to R: Ingrid's mother, godmother Elisabeth Winter, Ingrid, godfather Helmut Winter during Ingrid's Confirmation in the Catholic Church, circa 1965.
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Ingrid's parents circa 1951. Ingrid at the age of 2. Ingrid in front of the family home in Ottobrunn at Easter.

Ingrid (on the right) modelling for a Knitting Company in Rofthalmuenster, Bavaria, in 1954. Ingrid and her mother, circa 1955. The picture was taken and developed by Ingrid's father.  Ingrid's first day at school. Ingrid and her best friend Roswitha Lentes (née Minderer) during Mardi Gras (Fasching). Ingrid’s Holy Communion. Ingrid with her godmother Elisabeth Winter during Ingrid's
Confirmation in the Catholic Church, circa 1965.
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Ingrid’s grandparents on her mother’s side on their wedding day.

Graduating from York University, L to R: Ingrid's father, Ingrid, Ingrid's mother, and Ingrid's aunt, the late Ingeborg Schuster.

Ingrid flying to the USA and Canada for the first time with her parents and
friends, 1963.

Ingrid doing graphic design work at her godparents” company.

Ingrid with her friends during a school frip to Denmark. L to R: Ulli, Gabi,
Ingrid, Claudia.

Family vacation in Croatia (then Yugoslavia). L to R: Ingrid, her parents, her cousin Gerhard Schuster and a friend.

Ingrid with her best friends from high school, L to R: Ingrid, Marietta, Ulli, Elisabeth (“Beschi”), Veronika (“Vroni”).

Kiefel as service representative and account manager. Her mother worked
as a secrefary for the Fritz Jugan Company in Munich, a small refailer of

machines for the wood-working industry, for twenty years.

Ingrid’s family connection with Canada was through her grandparents
on her father's side who had immigrated in 1951 via Sweden. Ingrid's
grandfather, Alex Heide, who was fluent in German, Swedish and
English, had worked in Sweden for the Government before going to
Canada. Ingrid’s father was born in Berlin, while her mother was from the
Sudetenland, in today's Czech Republic, where her family had owned
and operated a knitfing factory in Asch. As members of Czechoslovakia’s
ethnic German minority (the Sudeten Germans), they had lost everything
when they were evicted by the Czechs at the end of the Second
World War. Similar to Wolfgang, whose uncle and grandfather were
entrepreneurs and business owners, Ingrid’s family history includes

entrepreneurship as well.

When Ingrid's grandparents, together with their youngest son Rudolf—
Ingrid’s uncle— immigrated to Canada in 1951, Ingrid’s father decided
fo stay in Germany, because he had just gotten married and his wife was
pregnant with Ingrid. Ingrid’s father's brother Axel followed his parents
in 1959. Ingrid and her parents visited her grandparents and uncles
twice in Canada—in 1963, and again in 1969 fo attend one of her
uncle’s wedding. Following the second visit, Ingrid’s parents decided
fo immigrate as well to join their family in Canada. They held off for
another year, however, until 1970, so that Ingrid could finish high school
in Germany first. Ingrid's father immigrated in May of 1970, and Ingrid
and her mother followed on Sept. 5, 1970.
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Ingrid and Wolfgang's uncle Oskar Lapp in front of the Lippincott Sireet home in Toronto next to Wolfgang's
1969 Firebird Convertible.

In spite of being an electronic engineer, Ingrid’s father, like many other
qualified immigrants, could not find @ job in his profession after coming to
Canada and ended up repairing radios and TVs in their new hometown
Kitchener. In May 1971, they purchased a house on 37 Roslin Avenue in
the Westmount area of Waterloo. Ingrid's mother found a job at one of the
local lunch delis, where she worked as a parttime cook. Ingrid worked
in the deli's butcher shop for about two months and then got a job in the
kitchen at the KW Hospital. Her grandmother worked there as a dietician.
Ingrid's original plan after coming to Canada was to become a graphic
designer. She applied at Conestoga College and was accepted info the
program. This was when her parents suggested that she pursue a university
education instead, as they felt that a university degree would offer Ingrid
more possibilities for professional advancement in the future. In 1971,

Ingrid enrolled in the BA program at Wilfrid Laurier University in Waterloo

Ingrid and Wolfgang in front of their first home in Toronto, 1972/73.

with the goal of becoming a translator. After Ingrid and Wolfgang got
married in 1972, with Wolfgang working at Chromalox in Toronto, she
applied for a transfer to the University of York, where she completed her

studies with a Bachelor of Arts degree in languages (French and German).
FIRST-TIME HOMEOWNERS

In 1972, Wolfgang and Ingrid bought an old 2-bedroom-bungalow on
lippincott Street in Toronfo for $22,000.00 with a down-payment of
$3,000.00 ($2,000.00 of which they had received from Ingrid's parents
for that purpose; and the other $1,000.00 came out of Wolfgang's
savings). They had looked at the house only once, made an offer on it
and had then left for Germany to get married. The house had closed in

their absence with their lawyer looking after all the paperwork. It was not

until they moved in after returning from their honeymoon in Europe that
they took a second, more critical look at their first home. VWhen Wolfgang
opened the door to the attic for the very first time, he noficed at least
twentyfive pails partially filled with water, placed there by the previous

owner fo catch the water seeping in through the home's leaky roof.

The young couple’s first home was so close to the main railroad that it
would shake at night as the trains went by. During their first two years of
marriage, Ingrid went fo university while Wolfgang continued working at
Chromalox. They repainted the entire inferior of the house [all the walls
and even the interior doors had been painted green by the previous
owners), changed the colour of the kitchen cupboards, fore out the old
heavy castiron bathtub and put in a new bathroom. They fixed the leaks in
the roof with far, because they did not have enough money fo replace the
worn-out shingles. As they were struggling to make ends meet, renovations

were limited fo necessary updates that did not cost a lot of money.

Being firsHime homeowners, Wolfgang and Ingrid needed a lawnmower
so that they could take care of their lawn. Since money was tight, with
Ingrid operating on a weekly grocery budget of $15.00, Wolfgang
bought a non-working lawnmower from the wreckers for $5.00 and
refurbished it fo make it work again. Seeing a business opportunity, he
went back and bought five more. After fixing them all up, he put a “For

Sale” sign up on their front lawn and sold them for a profit.

When they decided fo redo their sevenfoot high basement, Wolfgang
and Ingrid went fo a carpet sfore to buy carpet. The helpful store clerk

gave them carpet sample books which they took home. Although they

liked a lof of the product that was sampled in the binders, they quickly
realized that they could not afford any of them, and took them back to
the store. To their surprise, the sfore owner told them that these were old
sample books and that they could keep them if they wanted. Seeing
an insfant opportunity fo achieve their goal of having new carpet in the
basement in spite of limited funds, Wolfgang and Ingrid asked whether
they could have more old books. They then went to several other carpet
stores and collected old carpet sample binders from them as well. With
the samples from all the various books, they created a patchwork carpet

and put it down in their basement at no cost whatsoever.

IW LAMPSHADES
—INGRID AND WOLFGANG’S FIRST
JOINT BUSINESS VENTURE (1973)

In 1973, while they were back in Germany on vacation, Wolfgang and
Ingrid noficed lampshades made out of sisal ropes. With their modern
look, they were very popular in Europe af the time. On a whim, Wolfgang
and Ingrid decided fo try producing and selling them in Canada. After
their return, they went to a store to buy rope and two jumpingon balls.
In order to be able to buy the rope wholesale, they had to make up a
company name first. Using the inifials of their first names, they simply
called their business IV Lampshades. Back at home, they inflated the ball,
wound the sisal rope around it and applied liquid fiberglass resin. When
the resin had dried, they took the ball out and, to their great delight, their
first lampshade stayed in shape on its own. After building two prototypes
that way, they decided to make them in production and to sell them. Since

the balls they had used on their first two lampshades were too expensive,
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[
Building the family cabin on Rose Island. L to R: Wolfgang, Ingrid and
Ingrid's parents, 1973.
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Ingrid’s father boating in Georgian Bay.

Wolfgang's parents at the cottage with the family dog “Red”.

Ingrid's father finishing the roof of the family cabin on Rose Island.

Ingrid's father enjoying fishing in Georgian Bay.

they decided to use beach balls instead. With the new material, they
made their first batch of ten lampshades and hung them off the ceiling
in their basement to dry overnight. When they went to check them the
next morning, they found that each of the lampshades, excluding one,
had collapsed. To Ingrid’s and Wolfgang's dismay, the resin had melted
the plastic of the balls, causing the air to evaporate and making the
shades cave in. The failed experiment had cost them $138, which was
a lot of money for them. Realizing that making those lampshades was oo
labourintensive and disliking the smell of the resin, they gave up on the
plan of becoming manufacturers of lampshades. That decision was made
easier since they had not been looking for an opportunity to become
entrepreneurs when they had come across the lampshades in Germany.
Instead, the decision to give it a try had been made rather spontaneously.
With no real commitment to becoming lompshade entrepreneurs, they did

not pursue the idea any longer when they encountered these difficulties.

In 1973, around the same time that Ingrid and Wolfgang had undertaken
their failed first attempt at private entrepreneurship, Ingrid’s parents bought
a cottage lot on Rose Island in Georgian Bay near Parry Sound. They
were able fo afford the land and to build a cottage there because by
then, Ingrid’s father was making good money working for Electrohome in
Kitchener. When they started building the cottage, Ingrid's parents drove
up from Kitchener and Ingrid and Wolfgang came up from Toronfo in order
fo help them over the weekends. At first, they slept in a tent and eventually
they built a small cabin where they stayed while building the cottage.
All material for the island coftoge that was being built on a hill had to
be brought in by boat. Wolfgang and Ingrid had found a cheap twelve-

foot aluminum boat with a three-horse-power motor and had brought it
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Ingrid and Wolfgang on the roof of their house while putting on an addition.

up to Georgian Bay on top of the Firebird Convertible that Wolfgang had
bought two years earlier in the fall of 1971, They used this small boat to
carry all the lumber and other building material needed in the construction
of the cottage. Family friends helped with construction over the weekends

as well. Ingrid and Wolfgang remember this as a great time in their lives.
MOVE TO BARRIE (1974)

In 1974, the employees at Chromalox went on sirike. Since Wolfgang
was too proud to carry around a union sign, as well as for other reasons,
Wolfgang and Ingrid felt that it was time fo move on again. Ingrid had
finished university and they were looking at Trenton, Kitchener and Barrie

as possible places to relocate to. Originally, they wanted to move to Parry

Ingrid and Wolfgang puiting an addition onto their house in Utopia.

Sound, but when they starfed looking between Toronto and Parry Sound
they soon felt that Barrie was the right place to go. While Chromalox
was on strike, Ingrid and Wolfgang had time to explore and look for
a new home. In Barrie, they met with a real estate agent who showed
them a two-yearold home which they liked so much that they decided to
buy it at $34,000.00. The house was located in the Township of Essa,
outside of Barrie in the country, with a mailing address that read “RR #1,
Utopia”. Since the real estate market in Toronto was excellent at the time,
fruly a seller's market, they anticipated having no problem selling their
house in Toronto. Confident that their Toronto home would sell immediately,
Wolfgang and Ingrid put an unconditional offer on the house in Utopia with
the closing date only & weeks away, on July 15, 1974. Back in Toronto
their real estate agent there suggested they could get $65,000.00 for

their house which they had bought for $22,000.00 only two years earlier.
However, to their surprise, the market in Toronto went down, just as they
were frying to sell their old bungalow and Wolfgang and Ingrid became
increasingly concemned that they might end up owning two houses at the
same time. Fearing this outcome, they drew up an emergency contingency
plan for the possibility that they would not be able to sell their house in
Toronto before their new Barrie home closed. In that case, Wolfgang was
supposed fo go to Barrie, while Ingrid would stay in Toronto at first. As
part of that plan, Ingrid looked for a job in Toronto and started working as
a filing clerk at Moore’s Business Forms. When they dropped the asking
price to $45,000, however, their house in Toronto sold one week before
they took possession of their new home in Utopia, allowing them to make

the move with no need fo enact their emergency plan.

In September 1974, soon after moving fo Barrie, Wolfgang was hired as
a tool and die maker at General Electric (GE) in Barrie. GE was unionized
as well and a couple of weeks affer he started working for GE, the union
steward approached Wolfgang and asked him to slow down in his work,
emphasizing that this was a union job. looking back, Wolfgang says:
"No wonder the GE plant had to close down eventually: they only really

worked for two hours a day and the working morale was terrible.”

About three months after he had been hired, Wolfgang was let go by GE
before Christmas. This was standard practice so that the company did not
have to pay its employees over the holidays. Wolfgang started looking
for a new job and quickly found a position as a tool and die maker
at Prodomax in Barrie. There he worked with the company’s founder,

Mr. Hickling, as well as with six other employees. Founded in 1971,

Prodomax was a small company back then. Today, the business has
grown into a fairly large-size operation, employing over 100 people in the
manufacturing of custom production machinery. Since the economy was in
the midst of a recession again, Wolfgang was employed af Prodomax on

and off, depending on whether there was enough work for him.

Like Wolfgang, Ingrid continued to work as an employee after the couple’s
move fo Barrie. Since there were hardly any jobs available that suited
her educational background, Ingrid, in September 1974, started working
partime for the local newspaper, the Barrie Examiner. In that position, she
was first assigned to work with the photographer. Her responsibility was
fo get the photos ready for the printing press. From there, she moved up
info the office where she operated one of the switchboards. With a smile,
she remembers her routine of putting telephone plugs info the switchboard
so that parties could communicate with each other—just like in the old
movies. In addition to operating the switchboard, Ingrid was assigned
the task of looking after accounting which she had no real experience
with. As it became increasingly apparent that the work did not match
her academic background, she was eventually let go after a few months.
Looking back, Ingrid believes that losing her job atf the newspaper was a
good thing because in January 1975 she was hired by Bell Canada as
a cusfomer service representative, a position which she enjoyed a lot and
that allowed her to make fairly good wages. Ingrid was the first external
candidate to be hired for that job since Bell Canada usually promoted
from within the organization. Ingrid’s employment at Bell Canada was
highly beneficial to the young couple: not only did she receive thorough
fraining in customer service, enabling her to develop inferpersonal skills

that would lafer come in handy when dealing with customers affer the
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founding of their own company, but Ingrid having a steady fulHime job
further put her in a position fo carry them through while Wolfgang pursued

his first steps as an enfrepreneur.

FROM ‘PRO INDUSTRIES’ TO
‘DERKS ORNAMENTAL RAILINGS
AND IRON WORKS’—EARLY STEPS
AS AN ENTREPRENEUR, 1975-1977

Not being the kind of man who could sit around and do nothing,
Wolfgang built a two-car garage on his house while he was off work
from Prodomax. He accomplished and built almost everything himself,
including digging out the foundations with a shovel and establishing the
forms for pouring the foundations. On one particular day in 1975, after
building the garage, Wolfgang was talking fo his neighbor. Knowing
that Wolfgang was looking for work, the man told him of a bam that
had burned down in the area and suggested that Wolfgang approach
the farmer and inquire whether he needed help rebuilding it. Following
this advice, Wolfgang drove out to the farm, but to his disappointment
the barn had already been rebuilt. As Wolfgang and the farmer began
talking, the farmer mentioned that he had just received a quote for an install
of new calf stalls on his property. When he asked Wolfgang whether he
could weld, and even though he had never welded before, Wolfgang
answered, ‘I can do anything.” At this, the farmer countered, “Why don't
you give me a quote for the calf stalls then.” He handed Wolfgang the
plans and drawings the other company had provided. Wolfgang went
home, worked out a proposal, went back fo the farmer and quoted him

$12,000.00 for the job. “Go ahead,” the farmer said. Wolfgang was in

Whought iron patio sets made by Wolfgang.
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Ingrid and Wolfgang's station wagon that they used for transporting steel.

business. He went to Canadian Tire, bought a hacksaw, a vise as well as
an electric welding machine and set up the tools in his garage. He then
ordered all of the material he would need, and even built a rack for his
Rambler station wagon so that he would be able to carry the 24-footlong
steel tubing he required for the sfalls on fop of the car. Wolfgang cut all
the metal with his hacksaw, painfed it with a brush and installed it himself.
The farmer was so pleased with the quality of Wolfgang's work and with
the final product that he referred him to other farmers in the area as well.
Of the many jobs that he accomplished for farmers in the Barrie areq,
Wolfgang remembers one insfall in parficular. The farmer wanted sfeel

bars to be placed in front of the stall window where his bull was housed

Derks Railings Invoice.

because the bull always kicked out the glass with his horns. While he was
installing and fastening the steel bars to the wall, the bull was standing on

his foot and refused to move for over ten minutes.

Wolfgang decided to name his small business which he operated out
of his garage Pro Industries. While gathering valuable experiences as
an independent contractor, Wolfgang always attempted new projects in
an effort to expand his business. Having gained know-how in making
wroughtiron railings, he started building wroughtiron patio furniture
fo keep himself busy in-between railing jobs. After building his first set,
he took pictures of it and fried to sell it in Barrie and Toronto. At first
nobody wanted it, until he met Norman lenz, the German owner of a
store in Toronto who purchased some of his patio furniture. Looking back,
Wolfgang guesses that the man felt somewhat sorry for him. Norman was
a former chimney sweep who had been trained in Germany and affer
coming to Canada had opened a store where he sold wood stoves and
fireplaces. As they became better acquainted, he took Wolfgang to his

very first hockey game in Toronto.

While operating as an independent contractor, Wolfgang picked up the
steel he required for jobs directly from the steel supplier in his Rambler
station wagon. At the plant, the employees made him load 24-ootlong
tubing and 20foot rods onto his car himself. He noticed, however, that if
he sent Ingrid to pick up the materials that the steel workers would put it on
for her. One day when Ingrid came back from picking up the order, they
had put so much steel onto the roof that the weight of the steel trusses had
caused the roof fo collapse. "This is the last time | am picking up steel for

you," Ingrid said.

Wolfgang still vividly remembers buying a used iron worker—his first
machine ever—from Walter Haas Machinery in downfown Toronto. In
order to bring the machine home, he had to attach the trailer that he
had built directly to his car. On the way up Highway 400, the machine
bounced up and down so many fimes that the legs of the machine

eventually broke through the plywood floor of the trailer.

After doing various steel fabricating jobs for farmers in the area, Wolfgang
decided to build wroughtiron railings for houses because the work was
very similar fo the calf stalls he was doing already. Since jobs were not
easy fo obtain, he hoped to break into the new construction market that
way. Furthermore, making railings did not require a lot of equipment. This
ultimately afforded Wolfgang an opportunity to enter that market without
having to borrow money, and also served to keep his overhead low. To
put his plan into action, Wolfgang drove around, took pictures of railings,
compiling them info a catalogue and advertised in the paper “Custom

wrought-iron railings for sale”.

One of his coworkers at Prodomax, a Dufch immigrant of the name John
Derks, was doing exactly the same thing. Although Wolfgang felt that
Derks was ahead of him—he spoke perfect English, had more machines,
and much more experience in building railings—they got together and
decided to become business partners. Operating under the name of Derks
Ornamental Railings and Iron Works, they formed a partnership in 1976
and rented space on Morrow Road in Barrie for their shop. The idea was
for both of them to continue working at their day jobs at Prodomax, and
fo run their business on the side. After business picked up, Derks was

the first fo quit his day job and Wolfgang followed later once they had
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enough orders to support them both. They decided that Derks would do
the installs, while Wolfgang would drive around and talk to homeowners
fo inquire about and subsequently acquire possible jobs for their business.
This was not an easy venture though. As the economy went down again,
Wolfgang remembers driving around for a whole week, traveling from
Crillia to Newmarket and from Wasaga Beach to Peferborough, and
not being able to find a single job — and this after they both had quit af
Prodomax already. Ingrid was involved in the business as well, looking
after the administration and doing the books after hours and on weekends,

as she continued o work fulHime at Bell Canada.

In addition to wroughtron railings, Wolfgang and Derks did other wrought-
iron work as well. One time, they quoted a 30Hootwide wroughtiron
arch to be installed in a park in Innisfil, just outside of Barrie. Due tfo the
enormous size of the structure, the main challenge they faced was getting
the arch to the park affer the pieces were already welded together. Since
all they had to carry it in was a sfation wagon and a frailer, Wolfgang
and Derks welded a long axle onto the trailer. When the arch was ready
to be installed, they hauled it to the park on their improvised extended
trailer, leaving at three o'clock in the morning when there was hardly any
traffic, because they needed the entire width of the road while driving

around curves through Barrie.

When Derks eventually brought his son info the business as well, this
proved to be too much for their small company, as there was not enough
money fo be made to support all three of them. Furthermore, over time
it became obvious that Derks and Wolfgang held different business

philosophies that were not compatible in the long term. By the end of

1976, dfter eight months of working together, they eventually decided to
separate. Derks took over the lease of the building while Wolfgang went

back to his garage.

THE DAWN OF WOLF STEEL:
SIMCOE RAILINGS, 1977-1979

In 1977, as he was back on his own again, operating under the
business name of Simcoe Railings, Wollgang hired Glen Ransom, his first
employee. Glen was a Canadian, and he was older than Wolfgang,
who, at the time, sfill had some problems with the English language. As
a result, customers often went to Glen instead of Wolfgang because they
thought that he was the boss. Wolfgang gladly let him play that role.
Clen stayed with Wolfgang for about three years until he started a foster
home together with his wife. After less than six months of working out of
his garage, Wolfgang rented space on Vespra Street in Barrie where
his business occupied 1,000 square feet. Their second employee, Ron
Noordhoff, joined in 1978. He is still with the company today, serving as

Building Maintenance Supervisor.

At the time when Wolfgang hired Ransom, the economy was once again
in recession. Although Wolfgang did everything he could, finding jobs
proved extremely difficult. One day around this time, Wolfgang noticed a
public invitation o fender, issued by the Government for a job to be done at
the penitentiary in Penetanguishine. The bid was for putting windows with
bars info the cell doors in order that food could be delivered to the cells
without direct confact between the inmates and the guards. The reason

for this modification of the doors was that many times when the guards

opened the doors the officers would be assaulted by flying fists from the
inmates. When Wolfgang went to the penitentiary to hand in his tender he
was escorted in the penitentiary by an official with a black eye. Wolfgang
asked him what had happened, and the man replied that he had been
beaten in the face through an open cell door. He then showed Wolfgang
one of the inmates who was totally naked in solitary confinement in his
cell. Based on everything that he had seen af the penitentiary, Wolfgang

quoted the job extremely high to ensure that he would not get it.

From the beginning of their business ventures, Wolfgang and Ingrid did
everything together. The early years were difficult, as they had very little
money, and most of the money they made they put back into the company.
Ingrid’s parents thought they had lost their minds for working so much and
making so litfle in return. There was one year that Wolfgang wanted to
quit, but they stayed strong and held on, mutually supporting each other
through times of doubt and uncerfainty. In his last year at Chromalox,
Wolfgang had made $18,000.00 as a tool and die maker. In contrast,
during the first year on his own after splitting up with Derks, his income for
the entire year was no more than $3,000.00. Luckily, Ingrid continued to
make good money during this time working for Bell Canada, allowing her
fo support Woltgang and cover all of their living expenses. It took seven
years until he finally started making some decent money. Looking back,
Wolfgang comments: “Nobody in his right mind today would wait 7 years
to make a decent income. If it had not been for Ingrid’s steady income in

the beginning, we would not have been able to stay in business.”

Keen on breaking into the new construction market, Wolfgang took on

various jobs for some of the local builders, including Don Pratt, who
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owned the largest construction company in town. Wolfgang met Don
through Ingrid who was taking prenatal classes together with Don'’s wife.
Knowing that Don had his own people making railings for him, VWolfgang
fried to convince him to let him do all the work and not just individual
jobs every once in a while. One day when Don was in a bind, having
a closing on a house and needing a railing for the very next day, he
approached Wolfgang, and said: “If you can do the railing by fomorrow,
you have a job.” Wolfgang took the measurements, worked all night, and
by noon the next day he had the railing installed. Don was so pleased
that he told Wolfgang: “If you work like that all the time, you can do all

the railings for me.”

Following his first job with Don Praft, Wolfgang was able to grow his
railing business by working with other builders as well. Simcoe Railings
soon built a reputation for being able to deliver within any time frame.
When Don Praft asked him to do steel stairs for him, despite having never
done them before, Wolfgang said “No problem, | can do that for you.”
Having a natural aptitude for building and engineering things, Wolfgang
figured out quickly how to do them. The biggest challenge that he faced,
was that building stairs required a larger welder than the small one he had
purchased at Canadian Tire. Since Wollgang did not want to pay for a
tool rental for the entire duration of that job, he decided to build the entire
staircase, put it info place af the construction site with his small welder first,
and then rent a larger one for one day only. He was able to complete the
real welding using the larger welder by working 24 hours straight through
the night, and took the rented tool back the very next day. looking back,
Wolfgang says: “Others would have most likely bought or rented a welder

for the entire week. | considered that a waste of my resources.”

Another job that Wolfgang remembers in particular was constructing steel
stairs in the Eaton Centre in Toronto. The Eaton Centre, a landmark in
Toronto, was built in two stages. In February 1977, the northern section
was built, and in August 1979 the southern part was completed. While
the Eaton Centre was under construction, one of the restaurants which
was built on two floors needed sfairs to connect their premises. VWolfgang
quoted them and subsequently got the job. When he was ready for the
install, Wolfgang loaded all the parts that he required into the trunk and
onto the roof of his green Buick stafion wagon and drove down fo the
largest construction site in all of Canada. Upon arrival, he noticed people
looking at him strangely because everything else came in big frucks. After
an hour on the job, a man approached Wolfgang and Glen Ransom
and asked them to show him their union membership cards: “We don't
have union cards,” Wolfgang replied. The man countered, “You realize
it is Cadillac Fairview that is building here and they are fully unionized.
You can't work here if you are not in the union.” In reply, Wolfgang
answered him, “I am just finishing my job and | will be out of here within
two days,” and continued working while ignoring the union official. Two
hours lafer four men in suits showed up at the site where he was doing
the install. One of them was from Cadillac Fairview, one of the partners
behind the construction of the Eaton Centre, and the other three were
union representatives. When they asked him for his union card again,
Wolfgang fold them the same thing that he had told the other union
representative before. They repeated that Cadillac Fairview was a fully
unionized company and threatened that if Wolfgang kept working on the
site two thousand union workers would walk off their jobs and Wolfgang
would be held responsible for their wages. "What do you want me to

do?” Wolfgang asked, realizing that he could not simply carry on with

his job. They explained that he would have to go to the Union Hall, hire
two Union members there and bring them back to the job site the next
day to finish the install for him. With no other option, Wolfgang went
to the Union Hall the same day. When he got there, he noticed many
workers sitting around, smoking and playing cards. Wolfgang fold the
union official at the office that he needed two union members for the next
morning to help him put up steel stairs. “They will be at the site tomormrow
morning,” the union representative replied. The next morning two union
workers showed up as arranged. Wolfgang showed them where the
material was and told them to continue the job he had started the previous
day. In reply, the union workers answered him, “We don't know how to
do that.” "I don't weld.” “I only tighten screws.” Running out of patience,
Wolfgang instructed them: “Just sit down here and my helper and | will
put it up ourselves.” As a result, Wolfgang ended up paying two union
workers $35.00 an hour each for sitting around at the job site while he
and Glen Ransom completed the job which they could have finished faster

without them in the first place.

When Wolfgang had gotten info the railing business in 1976, the railings
he built had been mainly interior and exterior steel railings. The interior
railings were usually made out of polished and hammered Swedish steel
which gave them their unique antique look and made them a favorite among
new homeowners at the time. When the trend lafer changed to interior oak
railings with spindles, curved wood railings became particularly popular
in high-end homes. The transition from steel to wood proved challenging
for Wolfgang, because he had no experience in woodworking. However,
since customers were demanding it, he quickly learned how to do curved

wood railings as well. At the beginning, Wolfgang found it quite difficult

to make the handrail out of curved ook and it fook him many attempts until
he finally figured out how to do it properly. As a result of this experience,
he learned an important lesson that he has applied fo his entrepreneurship
ever since: "There is always change in business. If you do not go with the
change you will eventually go out of business.” Through his willingness o
adapt to changes in the marketplace, Wolfgang ended up building and
installing many railings for home-builders in and around Barrie as well
as for the city of Barrie itself. As he was producing wroughtiron railings,
gates, staircases, fire escapes as well as solid ook railings, Wolfgang's
tendency fowards diversification of product—one of the key pillars of the
success of Wolf Steel and Napoleon to this very day—is clearly visible

even early on in his entrepreneurship.

Railing built by Wolfgang.
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Early Timberwolf insert, Model 1500 — 1980.

Early Timberwolf single door stove, Model 1400 - 1979.

BUILDING THE FIRST WOOD
STOVE AND THE FOUNDING OF
WOLF STEEL LTD.

Back in the late 1970's, Fisher Stoves was a big name in the wood
stove market. Fisher operated out of Oregon, where Bob Fisher had
developed the first airtight steel-plafe stove that was welded fogether.
Before developing branch plants, similar fo franchises, he had sold
his stoves exclusively in Oregon. By the late 1970's, the Fisher Stoves
Company had franchise factories all over Canada and the United States,
producing and selling thousands of units of their highly popular models.
These manufacturing businesses, one of which was located in Barrie, built

Fisher stoves under license and paid Fisher a royalty in return.

Early Timberwolf woodstove, Model 2000 — 1979.

Wolfgang had first seen a Fisher wood stove when the city of Barrie had
hosted a winter carnival with ice sculptures. A Fisher sfove was used in
one of the frailers and it kept the frailer nice and warm even though it was
exiremely cold outside. One day in 1978, Ingrid’s father told Wolfgang
that he wanted to buy a Fisher wood stove for his house. Since Wolfgang
did not have a lot of contracts for his business at the time, he offered to
build him one instead using the Fisher stove as a model. Wolfgang had
no idea that with this offer he was about to lay the foundation for a multi-

million dollar company.

When Wolfgang and Ingrid went to the plant in Barrie where Fisher stoves
were built and sold, the building was already closed for the day. As they
looked through the window in the back, Wolfgang noticed some welding
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Ron Noordhoff manning the booth with a hand painted sign during the company’s first exhibit at the Home Show in
Gravenhurst, around 1980.

equipment and several wood stoves. At the time, he thought it sirange
that anybody would buy a wood stove when there was more modern
fechnology around, such as gas, oil and propane furnaces but since his
fatherinlaw wanted fo have one he decided to pursue the project. He
had no idea that only a few years later his own sfove company would

operate ouf of exactly that location.

In preparation for building his first stove, Wolfgang went to Barrie
Welding and asked them to cut the steel plates for him and o bend them
according fo his specification. In addition to doing custom jobs, Barrie
Welding was one of many companies that were also manufacturing their
own brand of wood stoves. The name of their castiron door model was
"Johnson”. Wolfgang asked whether he could buy and use one of their
doors for his stove. Since Barrie Welding had no objections, the first stove
Wolfgang ever built was a stove with a “Johnson” door on it. When he

had finished constructing his first wood stove, his fatherindaw took it home

Wolfgang during the company’s first exhibit at the Home Show in Gravenhurst, around 1980.

to Kitchener and hooked it up in the basement. He was extremely happy

with it, because it heated the entire house.

After seeing how well the wood stove he had built for his fatherin-law
worked, Wolfgang made a stove for himself and another one for his
neighbour who wanted one as well after seeing Wolfgang’s. In 1978/79,
his first two years in the hearth product industry, Wolfgang built 3 stoves,

one with a “Johnson” door and two with Timberwolf doors.

In 1979, Wolfgang had to change the name of his company from Simcoe
Railings because a company in Keswick, Ontario started operating under
the same and had it registered. Wolfgang decided to name his business
Wolf Steel because the more general character and nature of that new
nome reflected the fact that they were no longer just in the business of

making railings. And so, in 1979, Wolf Steel lid. was born and registered.

BECOMING A WOOD STOVE
MANUFACTURER

At the end of the 70's, when Wolfgang built his first stove, wood-buring
stoves were becoming hugely popular. Faced with a severe shorfage of
oil in the market and fears that Western nations would eventually run out of

oil, people began buying wood stoves in great numbers as a precaution.

At the time of the energy crisis in the late 1970's, there were over 300
manufacturers of wood stoves in Canada. In Barrie alone, Wolfgang
estimates that there must have been between 10 and 15, including
Craffed, Millscraft, Barrie Welding (their model was called the “Johnson
Converter”), and Fisher (whose models were named “Baby Bear”, “Mama
Bear” and “Papa Bear”). With so many manufacturers making a living by
producing wood stoves, Wolfgang decided to break info the wood stove
business as strongly as he could. Seeing a great business opportunity,
Wolfgang began building a company around the first stove he had built
for his fatherinlaw. Today, that very same company has become a market

leader and employs around 700 people.

In designing his company’s first market model, VWolfgang created a single
large castiron door with a spin draft in the middle that made it look like a
sunburst. The door could be used both as a left and a right door on a two-
door model as well. Wolfgang and Ingrid then developed a pamphlet
that illustrated Wolf Steel’s first two models: a single-door sfove and a
larger double-door unit. He named both models “Timberwolf®”, in part
because of his own name, but also because the name seemed to fit the

units” large, rugged, and solid appearance. A year later, in 1980, the

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND:
THE OIL CRISIS OF THE
LATE 1970’S

In November 1978, a stike by 37,000 workers at Iran’s
nationalized oil refineries initially reduced production from ¢ million
barrels (950,000 m?) to about 1.5 million barrels (240,000 m3)
per day. Two months later when the country’s VWestern-oriented
leader, the Shah of Iran, fled the country, people in the West feared
a repeat of the 1973 ail crisis. During that crisis, the members of
the Organization of Arab Pefroleum Exporting Countries (OAPEC]
had proclaimed an oil embargo with devastating effects on the
markets in North America and Europe. In order to deal with
the market shortages, the US administration began a phased
deregulation of ail prices in April of 1979. Coinciding with the
Iranian revolution, this deregulation led to an increase in the costs
of crude oil from $15.85 per barrel to $39.50 per barrel over the
next 12 months. As a result, people ended up paying higher prices
at the pumps than at any time before. Due to the collective memory
of the 1973 oil shortage, motorists began panic buying and long
lines appeared at gas stations, just as they had 6 years earlier. As
fears grew that developed countries could run out of affordable
oil in the future, the demand for cheap renewable and alternative

energies peaked.
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Early Timberwolf woodstove, Model 2000 — 1979.

"Timberwolf®" was introduced in 5 different models. Wolf Steel grew to 5

employees and that year they sold about 30 wood stoves.

From the day Wolf Steel started operating out of the company’s first renfed
building on Vespra Street in Barrie, Wolfgang and Ingrid had a small refail
store on the premises where they offered their stoves to customers. The
Vespra Street facility was so small that Ingrid’s office functioned also as
the showroom and a warehouse and, as a result, was always filled with
wood stoves. From her “office”, Ingrid looked affer customers in the front
while Wolfgang worked in the back organizing and managing production.
Llooking back, Ingrid remembers it being difficult at imes for her, as a woman,
fo convince people fo purchase a stove. There were times when she had
fo get Wolfgang to come from the back and speak with some of the male
cusfomers because they had trouble buying a stove from a woman. They
usually ended up closing the deal with Wolfgang, even though he provided
them with exactly the same information as Ingrid had done previously. At
the beginning, while their business was sfill too small for establishing their

own dealer network, selling directly fo consumers was a matter of necessity.

Although production space on Vespra Street was limited, Wolf Steel
continued making railings there as well, while becoming more serious
about being a manufacturer of wood stoves. For equipment, the company
had a dip fank, built by Wolfgang and Ron Noordhoff, for dipping the
railings in paint instead of spray-painting them. They also had welding
machines, an ironworker fo cut the metal, a polishing machine, as well
as a Swedish steel machine. The latter was state-otthe-art at the time: it
pressed a pattern info the sfeel, which was then polished off to give it the

silver-black look that was popular with customers.

Due to the fact that there was not enough room in the Vespra Street facility
to allow for a spray booth inside the plant, Wolfgang and his growing
feam painted the stoves on plywood sheets outside the building. During
the winfertime, they would wait for a nice sunny day, throw a piece of
plywood on the snow, and get a few units painted that way. After the paint
had dried, the stoves were loaded onto the truck, and Ron Noordhoff
or Wolfgang delivered or tried to sell them. At that time, no one had
the slightest idea that Wolf Steel would ever develop from such humble

beginnings info a market leader in the hearth and barbecue industry.

Early Timberwolf woodstove, Model 1500 - 1979.
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BUILDING FOUNDATIONS
ON INNOVATION:
BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
DURING THE 1980’s

The 1980’s were a period of continuous growth, as new wood-burning
stove models were added and the number of employees grew from 5
(1980 through 28 (1985) to over 70 people by the end of the decade.
Correspondingly, manufacturing space increased from 1,000 to 45,000
square feet. Landmark developments in the history of Wolf Steel during this
time include the birth of the Napoleon brand (1980) and the introduction of
the Napoleon wood-burning stove with a single Pyroceram glass door—the
first of many subsequent industry innovations pioneered by Wolfgang and
his company—that same year. As more space was needed, operations
were moved to Bell Farm Road (1980) and then to the company’s current
location on what was to eventually become Napoleon Road (1983).
Other milestones include the acquisition of new state-ofthe-art production
equipment, territorial expansion into Quebec where a warehouse was
established in Montreal (1982), and then through agents into Western
Canada (1985) and Eastern Canada (1986). By 1986 Wolf Steel/
Napoleon® had become a national Canadian company which was
represented from coast fo coast. As their hearth products became ever
more popular, sales increased from 30 units of the "Timberwolf®” in their
first year of production (1979) to thousands of Napoleon glass-door units
by the end of the 1980's. By developing the first Napoleon gas fireplace
and entering the gas fireploce market towards the end of the decade
(1988), Wolfgang, Ingrid and their team laid the foundations for even

more growth in the future.

MOVE TO BELL FARM ROAD

In 1980, as Wolfgang got serious about becoming a wood sfove
manufacturer, Wolf Steel moved from ifs original 1,000 square foot
location on Vespra Street into a multiple-unit building on Bell Farm Road
in Barrie where they rented a unit which gave them 2,000 square feet.
When material arrived at the plant on a fruck, each sheet of metal had
fo be unloaded individually by hand since the company did not have a
forklift at the time. This type of work became much easier affer Wolfgang
bought a used forklift from a carpet company, which came with both a

pole and forks.

Within 2 years of moving to Bell Farm Road, Wolf Steel took over six
units in the building and rented more space in a business unit across the
road on Alliance Boulevard, which they used for painting. Production
space had grown to 5,000 square feet on Bell Farm Road, plus an
additional 1,000 square feet on Alliance Boulevard. After welding the
stoves at the Bell Farm Road location, Wolfgang and their employees
loaded them onto Wolfgang's Chevy pickup truck and took them over to
their Alliance Boulevard building to be painted. At the time, Wolf Steel
employed several Vietnamese workers who were part of a large group
of over 50,000 Vietnamese refugees who had found refuge in Canada
in 1979 and 1980. They were hard-working people who were eager
to learn. Although many of them had skills in other areas, they had to
take on production jobs because of the language barrier. Ron Noordhoff
taught them how to weld and they built and painted stoves together with

the other employees.

3Although prior fo the founding of the Napoleon Appliance Corporation (NAC) in 1995 for the manufacturing of barbecues all Napoleon product was manufactured by Wolf Steel and the Napoleon name only existed as a brand and

not as a company name, the names Wolf Steel and Napoleon will be used interchangeably in the following, with Napoleon referring to the “Napoleon” brand, to Wolf Steel or to the Napoleon Appliance Corporation, depending on

the specific context.

The Deluxe Insert, one of Napoleon's best sellers in the 1980%.

INDUSTRY FIRSTS: PYROCERAM
GLASS-DOORS AND AIR-WASH
SYSTEMS (1980)

After infroducing the “Timberwolf®” in five different models and selling
about 30 units in 1979, Wollgang noticed that customers were particularly
inferested in sfoves with glass doors. “Why don't you put a glass door on
your stoves?” they always asked. Realizing that buyers of wood stoves
wanted fo see the flames while the sfove was operafing, Wolfgang
began looking info ways of designing a glassdoor model. He found a
manufacturer working out of Orillia by the name of Solarwood, who was
producing a glass door, using two pieces of tempered glass in a sfeel
frame. There were a lot of problems with those glass doors though, one of
the most serious being that the glass frequently broke as a result of sudden
femperature changes inside the stove. Unhappy with this result, Wolfgang

sef his mind fo designing a glass door that would be both durable and safe.

Wolfgang soon came across Corning Glass Works, o manufacturer of
glass cookware that was sold under the brand name of CormingWare.

What made this product unique and particularly inferesting to VWolfgang

The First Napoleon woodstoves during the early 19805s.

was that ComingWare was produced using Pyroceramic glass which
made it resistant to sudden temperature changes. Pyroceram is a glass-
ceramic material capable of withstanding thermal shocks of up to 450 °C
(840 °F). Due to the product's high temperature heatresisting capability,
there was another wood stove manufacturer at the time that was using their
clear cooking dish as a glass door. VWhen Wolfgang contacted Corning,
they confirmed that their glass did not break under heat or thermo-shock.
However, he also learned that it was expensive, about ten times the price
of tempered glass. Wolfgang asked the Coming representative fo send
him a sample nevertheless. When he tested the material he found that, as
asserted by the manufacturer, it did not break under conditions of extreme
heat. Confident in the material, Wolfgang set out fo design a new single-
door wood stove. He decided fo use a single door instead of a double
because it was easier fo produce, as well as being more consumerdriendly
when opening the door for reloading the stove with wood. In order to
ensure that it was solid and would not warp [if the frame warped, the

glass would break|, the frame was made out of cast iron.

While using Pyroceram glass had effectively eliminated the risk of glass

breakage, there was yet another challenge that needed to be resolved:
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Napoleon insert installed in Ingrid and Wolfgang’s home in Utopia.

depending on how wet the wood was that the stove was fired with, the
glass on the door became dirty and blackened over time. Faced with
complaints from customers who said that they could no longer see the
fire, Wolfgang fried different things to ensure that the glass stayed clean
regardless of the quality of the wood. By putting the spin drafts on the
sides of the door where the air goes info the firebox and making the air
push against the glass from the inside, Wolfgang designed one of the first
airwash systems in the industry. This new fechnology proved to be very
successful, and it became one of many milestones for Wolf Steel. Today,

airwash technology has become the industry standard.
WHY NOT NAPOLEON?

In spite of the success of the early “Timberwolf®" models, as Wolfgang
continued to build his business, he noticed a change in the wood stove
industry: the designs that consumers favoured were becoming more elegant
and feminine in nature. To keep up with changing customer preferences
and faste, Wolfgang decided to infroduce modem-style elements to his
glass door. When thinking about design options, he remembered a
cognac bottle he had seen at the liquor sfore with beautiful gold embossing
on its label. Wolfgang went back to the store, purchased a bottle and
added the ormaments from the label fo the stove door design with some
modifications. VWhen the door was finished, it looked beautiful. Feeling that
the name “Timberwolf®” did not fit the more polished design of the newly-
created door any longer, Wolfgang and Ingrid started thinking about a
different name for the new stove. Taking inspiration from the cognac bottle
again, Wolfgang asked: “Why not Napoleon? Wouldn't that name work

for the stove as well2” Discussing the pros and cons, they both felt that the

name, which is the same in every language, was a perfect fit for the more
sophisticated stoves that they were about to produce. Thus, in 1980,
the Napoleon brand was bom, and the company’s single-castiron-door
models with Pyroceram hightemperature glass and airwash system were
infroduced to the market under that name. Lafer on, the company logo
was developed in a similar fashion, as it features a stylized rendering of

Napoleon Bonaparte’s famous hat.

After coming out with the first Napoleon stoves in 1980, Wolf Steel/
Napoleon was one of the first hearth product manufacturers to have their
stove approved by the Canadian Standards Association (CSA). CSA
approval meant that the “Napoleon” stove met the organization’s various

standards for product safety, as well as other evaluation criteria.
TRADE SHOWS AND DISTRIBUTION

As the company started to grow, Wolfgang sought out retailers in Southern
Onfario who would carry his products. At first, he met with a lof of resistance
because Fisher, Heritage, and Vermont Casting were large manufacturers
whose products were wellknown, and as a result were selling well in
the marketplace. Established fireplace dealers did not want to take on
Napoleon stoves, because not only were they unknown, but Wolf Steel

was considered just another stove manufacturer competing for market share.

Wolfgang was particularly interested in getting his product info a refail
store in Oillia called the Fireplace Boutique, which sold a large number of
stoves in the Barrie area. Since they were highly successful in selling Fisher

stoves, the owner Walter Elzner, was not interested in Napoleon products
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Ingrid exhibiting Napoleon products at the National Home Show in Toronto, early 19805.

at first. Wolfgang remembers one time when quoting a job for a wood
stove insfall in a private residence, Mr. Elzner was coming out atf the same
time that he was going in. With a chuckle and laughing at Wolfgang, he
wished him good luck. Mr. Elzner obviously did not take him seriously as a
competitor at the time. Wolfgang, however, succeeded in convincing the
homeowner fo buy his glassdoor model instead. Realizing that VWolfgang
was cutting into his market and that glass-door design was the way of the
future, Mr. Elzner eventually decided fo take on the Napoleon glass-door
stove as well. Due to the stove's unique design and excellent quality, the
Fireplace Boutique was extremely successful in selling Napoleon product,
particularly during the oil crisis of the early 1980's when everyone wanted
to be independent from oil. Customer demand for wood stoves was so
high at that time that Wolf Steel was running out of space and could not

produce fast enough fo meet customer demand. In order to keep up with

the sudden boom for wood stoves, Mr. Elzner's wife was frequently at the
Napoleon plant at 5 a.m., two hours before they opened, in order to be

first in line to get as many units as the Elzners needed for their sfore.

With a chuckle, Wolfgang remembers the following incident from the
early days of the company: one day a couple came into the store that
was aftached tfo the plant to buy a stove. As they were looking at the
Napoleon glassdoor model, Wolfgang approached them. Throughout
their conversation he learned that they had been to the Elzners' Fireplace
Boutique already and that Mr. Elzner had fold them that glass doors were
no good because not only did they smoke up, but they were prone to
breaking as well. “No, they don't break, they can take a lot of force”,
Wolfgang insisted. Wolfgang had grown tired of Napoleon’s competitors

constantly claiming that his glass-door stove was inferior fo their non-glass

WOLF STEEL LTD

e

Napoleon at the National Home Show in Toronto. L to R: Hans Martin (Energy Miser dealer), Wolfgang,
sales associate of Hans Martin.

models, and so, to prove his point, he clenched his fist, took aim and hit the
glass full force. To his great dismay (and physical pain), the glass shattered
instantly. His personal embarrassment outweighed the physical pain by far.
He had suffered a cut to his hand and the blood was dripping onfo the floor
as he was frying to save the situation. The couple hesitated for a moment,

but, o Wolfgang's relief, bought a Napoleon glassdoor stove nevertheless.

In 1982, after exhibiting their product at local trade shows in places
like Newmarket and Gravenhurst, VWWolfgang and Ingrid started exhibiting
at the National Home Show in Toronto, Canada’s longestrunning and
largest consumer show for home products. While exhibiting in Toronto for
the first time, Wolf Steel showed both their “Timberwolf®” models and the
Napoleon stove with the glass door. Wolfgang remembers competitors

walking by their booth, laughing and making derogatory remarks af the

Trade show in Montreal, Quebec, circa 1983/84.

small size of the "N1200", which was one of their Napoleon glass-
door stoves. That model was named “1200" because it was designed
specifically to heat small spaces of up to 1200 square feet. With
this model, Wolfgang had designed and infroduced to the market a
comparatively smallsize stove, at a time when competitors” units were still
much larger. The market soon proved however, that smaller was better, as
the Napoleon wood-burning stove with the single glass door became their

most popular model, selling thousands of units.

At another frade show, Wolfgang met the owner of Fisher Stoves in Barrie
whom they were competing with. Unlike Wolf Steel, Fisher Stoves did
not have a model with a glass door at that time. As they sfarted falking,
the man said: “I can tell your glassdoor model is doing really well.” He

fold Wolfgang that he had requested that Fisher's head office in Oregon
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Custom fireplace glass doors.

B 1

Highly efficient N20OT Deluxe Stove with files.

Napoleon product line in the early 19805s.

design a sfove with a glass door under their brand name, so that he could
compete with Wolfgang. Fisher's head office, however, had turned him
down, arguing that glass doors were not suitable for wood-burning sfoves
because the glass would get dirty over time. Wolfgang's crucial advantage
in this market was obviously that his company not only offered a glass-door
model which met with customers’ desire to watch the flames, but further that
he had also designed a cleaning system that ensured that the glass would
not get dirty. When other stove manufacturers finally realized that without
a glassdoor model they could no longer meet customers’ changing fastes,
it was too late. By then, the Napoleon name had spread and everybody
was asking for Napoleon products. Eventually the Fisher and other Barrie

stove manufacturing plants shut down while Napoleon continued to grow.

GROWTH THROUGH
INNOVATION: ADDING NEW
WOOD-BURNING PRODUCT

Building onto the early success of the company’s first Napoleon line of
wood-burning sfoves and inserts featuring a single door with a ceramic
high-emperature glass and airwash system, Wolfgang developed many
new products throughout the 1980s. In 1981, the Napoleon “Fireplace
Insert Deluxe” and the “Deluxe Stove” with ceramic tiles on the side and
fop as well as an extralarge ceramic glass window were infroduced.
In 1982 a hot water heating jacket was added. 1983 saw the launch
of the "NFI Deluxe” and “Classic” inserts. In 1985, the “N2001", a
new wood-bumning model was brought into the marketplace under the
Napoleon name with a cafalytic combustor for clean burn. Furthermore,

Napoleon began distributing fireplace accessories, including a chimney
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Napoleon product brochures.

line. In 1986, Napoleon began manufacturing their own custom glass
doors under the Dynasty label, as well as wroughtiron toolsets. In 1987,
the glass door line was changed to aluminum extrusion, resulting in a
large sales increase in both standard- and custom-door assemblies. In
1988, seeing the need for wood sfove efficiency in a zeroclearance
fireplace, a wood-buming zeroclearance model ("NZ2000: Prestige®”)
was offered to customers for the first time. This particular product featured
one of the largest doors in the industry which contributed fo its popularity,
and undoubtedly made it an insfant success. In 1989, three new sfoves,
fested and certified to Environmental Profection Agency (EPA) standards,
plus the “"WM-1020" masonry “lowboy” fireplace complefed Napoleon’s
popular line of stoves and fireplaces. By that time, affer producing
Napoleon and "Timberwolf®" models side-by-side for a number of years,
the “Timberwolf®” line had been discontinued due to the overwhelming
popularity and corresponding demand for Napoleon product. Within 10
years Wolf Steel/Napoleon had developed from manufacturing a single
wood stove model fo offering a complete line of fireplaces, sfoves and
inserts in different styles and models. As Napoleon products had become
evermore popular, Wolf Steel, the manufacturer behind the Napoleon

brand, became identified by consumers as Napoleon as well.

FROM COAST TO COAST -
TERRITORIAL EXPANSION
WITHIN CANADA

As demand for their Napoleon sfoves confinued fo grow, Wolfgang
and Ingrid began looking for ways to expand the distribution of their
product within Canada. In 1982, Wolf Steel/Napoleon broke into

the Quebec market by opening a warehouse in Montreal. Ingrid and
Wolfgang traveled to Montreal to meet Jean Berlie (Berbec Distributions),
their Quebec agent. Many years after that first meeting, Jean conceded to
them: “When | saw you, you two young kids, for the first time, | seriously
wondered.” In spife of his early skepticism, he agreed to partner with
them because he liked their wood stoves and he remained their Quebec
agent for many years. Jean was instrumental in establishing a market for
the Napoleon brand in Quebec. Three years later, in 1985, Wolf Steel/
Napoleon expanded its geographical scope even further by adding
an agent in Western Canada. When, in 1986, Compact Appliances
signed on fo serve as a distributor in the East Coast market, Wolf Steel/

Napoleon was represented coastfo-coast.
JOINT LEADERSHIP

With both of them being strong-willed personalities and having particular
strengths in different areas, Ingrid and Wolfgang, while always working
fogether as an entrepreneurial team, separated their functions early on.
Wolfgang's main focus was on research, design and development of
new products, as well as on purchasing and production, while Ingrid
concentrated on the administrative side of the business: HR, advertising,
markefing, accounfing and sales administration. In looking after sales
administration, she did a lot of talking to and negotiating with their dealers,
distributors and customers. With Ingrid being very defail-oriented and
Wolfgang always looking at the big picture, they have complemented
each other perfectly in their respective roles over the years. By faking the
administrative side of the business off his shoulders, Ingrid made it easier

for Wolfgang to focus on planning, and tuming his vision into reality.

MOVE TO NAPOLEON ROAD

Knowing that location would be key to continuous growth, Wolfgang
always wanted to own a property on a major highway. In 1982, as their
renfed plant on Bell Farm Road was bursting at its seams, the company
bought a one-acre property on Innisfil Beach Road, where they intended
fo build a new plant right beside Highway 400. However, when Ingrid
and Wolfgang realized how well things were continuing fo progress, they
could already foresee that that particular property would soon be too small
for their manufacturing needs as well. As a result, they started looking for
a completely different property that would accommodate their company
better in the longferm. Knowing that Fisher Stoves had closed down its
facility in Barrie, Wolfgang approached the owner of the property, Mr.
Spencer about the possibility of purchasing it. After agreeing on a price,
Wolfgang bought the land and the 10,000 square foot building, using
the company property on Innisfil Beach Road as a down-payment. In
1984, following immediate renovations, Wolf Steel/Napoleon moved
operations from Bell Farm Road into that facility. The new location
immediately provided them with 10,000 square feet of operating space
while the 7-acre property gave them room fo expand. The premises were
added to bit by bit every year, as demand for their stoves continued
fo grow. To keep up with inventory and incoming orders an additional
shipping and receiving area and warehouse was introduced in 1985

and in 1986 more office space was added.

Although wood-burning stoves had become the company’s main product,
Wolf Steelhad continued to make railings even affer the move to Napoleon

Road but the railing side of the business was ferminated in 1988. With
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The original property on 9 Napoleon Road when purchased in 1983.

THE ART OF FIRE

The plant on 9 Napoleon Road circa 1986 after adding a fest tower, offices and a wholesale showroom at the front and
a warehouse in the back.

L fo R: Ron Noordhoff, his wife Jean and Don Foster who managed the retail store together with his wife Marg Charlebois

sufficient space available and an evergrowing demand for Napoleon
product, Wolf Steel built its first “assembly line” of work-stations connected
by conveyors for the production of the Napoleon “Deluxe” inserts. With
the welders placed af the front, the fireboxes, affer being welded together,
rolled down the line to the next fable. As volume continued increasing, a

second “assembly line” was established.

While production was on the main floor, the spray booth where the sfoves
were painted was located in the basement. In order to be able to move
the sfoves up and down, Wolfgang and his team designed and built their
own elevator system. After cutting a hole into the floor they constructed a
platform and attached it to the mast from a worn-out electric forklift. After
hooking the hydraulic pump of the forklift onfo an electric motor, they were

able to make the platform move by pulling a lever.

For equipment, Wolf Steel had a 90+on mechanical shear, a litle Schuler
ironworker, a small punch press from Germany, a belt sander, as well as a
few drill presses. Wolfgang and Ron Noordhoff, Wolf Steel/Napoleon's
longest-serving associate, remember the ground shaking as they began
punching flue holes into quarter steel plates. According to Ron, “it would

just go 'bang’ depending on the type of steel we used.”

After moving to Napoleon Road, the company had a 1,000 square
foot showroom. On cold days in the wintertime, it happened more than
once that their store manager Don Fosfer (who ran the store together with
his wife Marg Charlebois|, would come running info the machine shop
yelling “Open the doors!” as the showroom was quickly filling up with

smoke. With the showroom attached to the plant, Don had fired up a

wood sfove in the showroom while the spray-booth was operating in the
plant. In those days they did not have makeup air when running the spray
booth in the plant, and this ultimately created a vacuum in the building.
After a certain amount of time, so much negative pressure had built up
in the building that it would simply reverse, causing the stove to back up
and fill the showroom with smoke. Not a good impression for a customer

wanting to buy a clean-burning, non-smoking wood stove!

At one point in the 1980's, Wolfgang decided to put up a flagpole
with a large Canadian Maple leaf flag in front of the Napoleon plant.
Ron Noordhoff had welded the pole out of steel pipe and when it went
up Wolfgang wanted to make sure that the flag would be visible from
the nearby highway. In order to convince himself, he jumped onto his
motorcycle to ride by the plant on Highway 11 to have a look for himself.
In order to get onfo the highway, Wolfgang first had to go down to the
next turnaround. As he was flying around the curve at high speed (I was
doing everything fast in those days”, Wolfgang adds), he all of a sudden
noficed gravel on the road. He didn't even have time to say ‘| am going to
fall”, before he hit the asphalt. Only wearing jeans, a shirt and a helmet,
but no protective clothing, Wolfgang suffered several abrasions and open
wounds on his arms, and the gravel penetrated deep under his open skin.
Deeply embarrassed and hoping that no one had seen him fall, Wolfgang
picked up his motorcycle, and, after checking it over, got back onfo the
highway fo make his way back to the company. With the wind blowing
info his open wounds and gravel pieces still stuck in his flesh, VWolfgang
remembers the ride back to the plant as being exiremely painful. VWhen
he walked through the door, Ingrid noficed that something was wrong

right away. Deeply concerned, she wanted to take him to the hospital but

Wolfgang insisted on just cleaning up his wounds and looking after his
injuries themselves, which they did at first. After four hours, however, the
pain had gotten so bad that he finally agreed to go to the hospital where
he was looked after professionally and his wounds were cleaned up from
the remaining gravel. Needless to say, that while riding his motorcycle
back to the plant following the accident, Wolfgang had paid no attention
whatsoever to the visibility of the flagpole from the highway. It took a
second frip, this time by car, to learn that the flagpole had been placed
in a perfect location and that the flag was of the right size to be noticed
by drivers going by the plant on Highway 11. Ingrid sold Wolfgang's

motorcycle at a garage sale less than a year later.

WOOD STOVE AND
FIREPLACE ACCESSORIES

By 1985, as sfaff numbers had increased to 28 people and Napoleon
wood sfoves were selling well, Wolfgang was looking for new opportunities
to complement their existing line of products. For a manufacturer of
wood-burning sfoves, accessories, such as shovels and pokers, seemed
fo be a natural fit. VWWhen a Barrie company that was making fireplace
accessories for the mass market laid off one of their craftsmen, a Polish
blacksmith, Wolfgang hired him. To accommodate the man’s traditional
way of working the iron, Wolfgang bought an air hammer and fools
for the production of wroughtiron accessories, and added a warehouse
in the back of the building to accommodate production and to provide
additional storage space for the finished product. In-house production of

hand-made wrought-ron fireplace accessories began in 1985.
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Wirought iron foolsefs.

In addition to fireplace accessories made by Wolf Steel, other products
were added for distribution that same year, such as Kemstone boards,
screens, stainless steel liners as well as prefab chimneys. A year later, Kel
Kem maintenance products and Firemate fireplace toolsefs became part
of the Wolf Steel lineup. In 1986, Wolf Steel began using Franco Belge,

a company from France, as a supplier of quality castings for their sfoves.

INGRID’S ROLE IN THE COMPANY
AND THE COMPUTERIZATION OF
NAPOLEON

From the moment Wolfgang had gone info business, Ingrid played a major
role in the development of the company. By the time their first son Chris
was born in 1977, Ingrid had quit her job at Bell Canada as a customer
service representative, and was working in the business fulltime. While
Chris was litlle, she took him to the office with her, as she was looking affer
the administration and marketing, among other things. VWhen their second
son Stephen was born in 1980, Wolfgang and Ingrid decided that she
would stay home until both sons were in school. As a result, they hired
an associate to look after the administration of the business while Ingrid
stayed home. Two years lafer, in 1982, however, Wolfgang asked Ingrid
fo return fo work, because he felt that he really needed her help in running
the company. As the person in charge of the administration of Wolf Steel/
Napoleon, Ingrid reassumed her important role in the background, doing
all the accounting, collections, credit, dealer relations, as well as being
in charge of marketing and advertising. In that capacity, she has been an

invaluable part of the business and its overall growth over the years.

Ingrid with Stephen (3 months old) and Chris.

Chris and Stephen, 1982.
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Chris and Stephen at the cottage, 1986.

Chris and Stephen, 1986,/87.

Ingrid’s father was an electronic technician developing monitors for
computers, among other things, and this early exposure while growing
up had fostered in Ingrid a keen inferest in computers. Acting as the
driving force behind the computerization of Wolf Steel/Napoleon, Ingrid
infroduced computers (Apple, Apple Il plus) to the company before the
business and manufacturing world became computerized, using them for
payroll, HR, sales and other administrative functions. A practical person
who is always trying to sfreamline processes and simplify running their
business, she has been highly proactive on the administrative side of the
company. Having a knack for design has helped her greatly in her role in
advertising, while sketching out designs for paper advertising, brochures,
and other advertising and marketing media. VWhen Wolf Steel/Napoleon
entered the Quebec market, Ingrid's academic background and fraining
in French allowed her to do all the proofreading of their French language

advertising material.

PRODUCT TESTING, CSA
CERTIFICATION AND BUILDING
OF THE TEST TOWER

Due fo the nature of their product, ever since the introduction of the Napoleon
glass-door stove in 1980, Wolfgang has ensured that Wolf Steel /Napoleon
product is approved by the Canadian Standards Association (CSA). The
CSA is an accredited provider of product testing and certification services.
CSA approval means that the product has been certified by an independent
organization for compliance with national and infernational safety and

performance sfandards (htip: //csarinternational.org).

Prior to building an in-house fest facility in 1988, Wolf Steel/Napoleon
had a company in Toronto doing product testing for them. As CSA
requirements became more sfringent over the years fo ensure that
wood-burning and gas hearth products were meeting increased safety
and environmental standards, Napoleon required a testing facility that
simulated a twosstory house—at least 40 feet high—with a basement.
CSA further mandated that during testing the fireplace and chimney had
fo be entirely encased in plywood. Since the Toronto company they had
previously used did not have the legally-required space for CSA-esting
under the new parameters, there were two options: Napoleon could
either fly their stoves to Wisconsin and have them tested there or build
a testing facility on their own premises and move the testing in-house.
Wolfgang decided to go with the second option: As a result, a fest fower
was builtin 1988 and more staff was added, bringing the total number of
employees to 50. The construction of the laboratory tower building added
700 square feet of space to the facility. VWhat made this plant exfension
so important was the fower's height. At 55 feet fall, it allows Wolf Steel/
Napoleon to continue festing all products and chimney configurations in-

house while saving considerable amounts of time and money.
FIRST TRIP TO CHINA (1987)

In 1987, Wolfgang and Ingrid traveled to China for the very first fime to
explore pofential business opportunities in addition fo some sightseeing.
At the time, there was so much falk, both negatfive and positive, about
the country and they wanted to see with their own eyes what China was
really like and had to offer. Since Napoleon was already importing tool

sefs from Taiwan, exploring further possibilities in China was somewhat of

a natural step. While in China, Ingrid and Wolfgang visited the Canton
Fair, China's most prestigious frade show which is sfill held twice a year,

as well as taking in some of the country’s main fourist sites.

After flying into Hong Kong, which was still an English colony af the
fime, they took the train to Guangzhou, known historically as Canton or
Kwangchow, China’s third-largest city, located in Southern China on the
Pearl River, about 120 kilometers (75 miles) northwest of Hong Kong.
Upon arrival at the Guangzhou train station Wolfgang and Ingrid were
picked up by a black limousine that took them to the Garden Hotel, which
was one of the newest and most presfigious hotels at the time. Since local
people were not allowed in the hotel, they saw many Chinese people
standing in front of the building trying to cafch a glimpse of what was
hoppening inside. During this period, everyone in China sfill wore the
dark blue Mao uniforms that have become synonymous with Chinese
Communism in Western eyes. Wolfgang and Ingrid noticed thousands
of bicycles on the roads and they were amazed af how wide the sireets
were, even though there were hardly any cars yet. The only cars they saw
were either Government vehicles or taxis. All major factories and stores
were sfill under Government ownership, as the transition of China into one
of the world's most important economies had not yet begun. Although
private enterprise was just starting on a very small scale, there was a lof of
construction already. Wolfgang and Ingrid were fascinated by how many

locals were selling artifacts to tourists from litile carts.

The day after their arrival in Guangzhou, Ingrid and Wolfgang went fo the
Canton Fair in the moming. To their great surprise, none of the exhibitors

spoke English and there were very few Wesferners attending the fair.
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Ingrid and Wolfgang on the Great Wall during their first trip to China.

When talking to a man from Germany, who was one of the few non-
Chinese individuals that they met, they learned that there were only two
good hotels in town, the White Swan and the Garden Hotel. The man told
Wolfgang and Ingrid that only a few years previously, accommodations
had been so bad that he had slept in the lobby because that had been
the cleanest room in the entire hotel. As they strolled through the fair,
looking at the many items exhibited, Wolfgang and Ingrid were amazed
by how different Chinese culture was as well as by the outstanding quality
of the craftsmanship displayed at the show. Since they could not develop
a business sense in terms of which items might be suitable for import and
sale through their company in North America, they ended up purchasing
personal items, like vases, hand-painted pictures, and sculptures for their
house. Affer deciding which items they wanted to buy, they approached
the exhibitors, but found it difficult to communicate, not only because
of the language barrier, but also because there were no sales people.

Wolfgang and Ingrid eventually realized that they were falking to the

.
L

Wolfgang showing the original Napoleon gas fireplace lineup at a trade show, 1988. First CNC punch press used in the production of fireplaces,

actual craftsmen who were exhibiting and selling their own product af the
show. After finding an English-speaking person to assist them, they were
able to engage with the Chinese craftsmen. To their surprise, whenever
they expressed their infent fo buy one single item, the Chinese craftspeople
insisted on them buying more than 1 unit of each product. Ingrid and
Wolfgang ended up purchasing 10 units of many of the products that
they were inferested in, with the mindset that they would sell the additional
items in their sfore. Their order totaled a mere $2,500.00 including
shipping, as the handcrafted items, including vases and reverse glass
paintings, were exiremely wellpriced. VWhen their purchases arrived in
Canada 5 months later, they were so well packaged in wooden crafes
that not a single item was broken or damaged. The wood from the crafes

served the Schroeters as firewood for an entire month.

At the fair, Ingrid and Wolfgang were negotiating the purchase of various

items with Chinese exhibitors when, all of a sudden, a bell rang. Almost

late 19805.

Stove production.

instantly, their negotiating partners took off, communicating to Wolfgang
and Ingrid that they had fo leave as well. Outside the building, the
perplexed visitors asked a Westerner what was going on; they were fold

that it was lunch time and that the show had closed down for two hours.

Once they were finished at the show, Ingrid and Wolfgang spent some
fime sightseeing. They visited the Li River (Guangxi), Guilin, the Chinese
Wall as well as Beijing with the Forbidden City and the Ming fombs.

ENTERING THE GAS FIREPLACE
MARKET (1988)

In 1988, three years after the company had started selling wood stoves in
Western Canada through an agent in Vancouver, Napoleon’s West Coast
Representative Max, called Wolfgang and fold him that he intended to

ship his stock of Napoleon wood sfoves back to Barrie. When asked

for an explanation, he informed Wolfgang that wood-burning products
were not selling any more and that customers wanted gas sfoves instead.
Wolfgang decided to fly out immediately fo see firsthand what was
happening. While visiting all kinds of showrooms in BC together with
his area representative, Wolfgang noticed that retailers were all offering
gas fireplaces imported from England and Holland. Max had been
right—customer demand was changing from wood fo gas stoves. VWhen
seeing Faber gas fireplaces from Holland in BC showrooms, Wolfgang
remembered meeting Garrett Faber, the owner of the company, af a trade
show. On that occasion, Garrett had told him: “Wolfgang you have
fo start making gas fireplaces because | cannot get this market going
by myself. Ve need more manufacturers to produce and advertise gas
products to swifch this market over to gas.” By the time he was on the
plane back fo Toronfo, Wolfgang knew that he had to get into the gas
fireplace market immediately. Since neither VWolfgang nor his employees

had any background in gas, VWolfgang and several Wolf Steel /Napoleon
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employees took the gasfitter course at Georgian College. Wolfgang then
hired CIliff Lilly, who had experience with gas-buming products from his
previous position with a barbecue manufacturer in Burlington, and together

they set fo the task of developing the first Napoleon gas fireplaces.

Celfing info gas fireplaces was somewhat of a gamble on Wolfgang's
side, as he went from heavy plate steel, bricks, and castiron doors info
the much lighter gauge materials needed to develop a product with more
purchased components (including gas valves, switches, and some of the
electronic parts). As in the past, when Wolfgang had acquired new skills
in order fo broaden his product range from wroughtiron to wood railings,
Napoleon’s move into the gas market attests to Wolfgang's strength as
an enfrepreneur, his foresight info the market and his willingness to do
whatever needs to be done in order to adapt and react to changing

customer demands.

In 1988, Dynasty gas products were added to the Napoleon product

line to accommodate the growing demand for gas fireplaces and inserts.

be operated in a home. Model “GD3000", which made its appearance in
1989, was designed as a directvent, zeroclearance fireplace, with greater
vent capabiliies than any other directvent fireploce on the market at 40
feet horizontal. Its “Power Vent” venting system was capable of exhausting
over 100 feef in a horizontal direction. New burner fechnology as well as
improved gas log configuration and burner assembly, allowed Wolfgang
and his team fo create a highly realistic flame pattern. The markefing caption

"Yellow Dancing Flomes®” was infroduced.

As Wolf Steel/Napoleon ventured into the gas market, demand for their
new product furned out fo be so overwhelming that production facilities
had to be enlarged almost immediately. In order to accommodate the
company’s growing manufacturing needs, 1989 saw the completion of a
15,000 square foot addition to the plant (3,000 square feet of storage
area and 12,000 square feet of manufacturing space), resulting in a tofal
manufacturing space of 45,000 square feet. By that time, Napoleon
had become one of the leading fireplace manufacturers in Canada,

employing a workforce of over 70 people.
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The first gas fireplace Wolfgang designed and infroduced to the market
was Model “3622", which was a vented product. Also in 1988, the
"GI2113" insert was launched. Compared to the highly sophisticated

EPA PRODUCT CERTIFICATION

it

Napoleon’s first EPA approved wood stove insert.

units Napoleon is manufacturing today, the company’s original gas
fireplaces were quite simple: their main technology was a pan-type burner
with a series of holes in it. Using cement logs, the insulation material was

soaked in brine, which gave these fireplaces the yellow glow of the flame.

By the end of the decade, directvent fireplaces came into the market very

quickly as customers appreciated the fact that they do not require a chimney to

Developing a gasburning product and venturing into the gas fireplace
market had been a necessary move in reaction to a changing marketplace.
Not only did an increasing number of customers feel drawn fo gas
fireplaces, but gas-bumning technology provided Wolf Steel/Napoleon
with the opportunity to intfroduce a second, alterate product category at a
fime when wood stoves were increasingly coming under the magnifying

glass of the Government due to growing environmental concerns.
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Direct vent gas fireplace GD 3000, another Napoleon bestseller with the most redlistic flame pattern on the market, 1989.

In 1989, as Napoleon began selling in the US, Wolfgang introduced
EPA-certified wood stoves to the company’s line of product. In order fo be
sold in the US, stoves required certification by the Environmental Protection
Agency (EPA), an American regulatory body established in 1970 with the
mandate fo profect human health and the environment by developing and
enforcing regulations based on laws passed by Congress. Within this
larger mandate, the EPA, with jurisdiction for the US only, was vested with
the authority to ensure that only cleanburning wood stoves could be sold
in the US. With wood stoves being a hugely popular product, mountain
states like Oregon, Colorado, and Washington State in particular, were
suffering from pollution caused by wood stoves during the wintertime.
At times, with the wind coming over the mountains and stagnating the
air, some of the small fowns in mountainous areas experienced a thick
smoky h